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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

ESTATE OF YONADAV HIRSHFELD
Plaintiffs,

V. Civil Action No. 15-1082(CKK)

ISLAMIC REPUBLICOF IRAN,
Defendant

MEMORANDUM OPINION
(Aug. 3Q 2018)

This case arises frotheMarch 6, 2008 deatbf 18-year oldYonadav Hirshfeldwhile he
wasat the Mercaz Harav Yeshiva in Jerusalem, Issdeedre he went to schooSeeTranscript of
April 24, 2018 Bench Trial held before the Honorable Colleen kd#ltatelly (“Tr.”), ECF No.
38, at 45. Plaintiffs—the estateheirs and immediatédamily menbers of the deceaseehllege
that Yonadav Hirshfeld (“Yonadav”) as killed bya shmter affiliated with Hamasa terrorist
organizatbn.! Proceeding under the Foreign Sovereign Immunities Act (“FSIRgintiffs allege
thatDefendantslamic Republic of Ira*Iran”) provided material support and resourceldéamas
and accordingly shodlbe held liable foryonadav'sdeath. The Court agreegth Plaintiffs’
assessment

Defendant heinot answered or otherwise participated in this litigataomd thegfore, the

case proceeded adefaultsetting with Plaintiffs filing a [30] Motion fo Default JudgmentThe

! Plaintiffs include: the Estate of Yonadav Hirshfeld, tlglits administrator, Michael
Engelberg; Yonadas parent&lisheva and Zemach Hirshfeld; and Yonddawelve siblings—
Shalom Hirshfeld, Nehemiya Hirshfeld, Amiel Hirshfeld, Zimrat BeagHirshfeld) Zuckerman,
Haya Hamital (Hirshfeld) Novick; Yedidya Hirshfeld; Hana @tifeld) Shandorfy, David Yinon
Hirshfeld, and Aviya (Hirshfeld) Freedman; Elyashiv Schmuel Hirgdhfgho was a minor when
the lawsuit was brought); and E.H. and S.H. (minors representedibgahents).Am. Compl.,
ECF No. 7.
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Court held &ench triabn April 24, 2018 Upon consideration of the pleadings, the relevant legal
authorities,the demeanor of the witnesses, and the record as a,wmI€ourt has eterminel
that Plaintiffshaveestablished their claims by evidence satisfactory to the Coudcaaddingly
will GRANT default judgment against Defendant. The Court wio consider théssue of

appropriate damagésr each Plaintiff

. BACKGROUND

Plaintiffsfiled this lawsuit orduly 10, 2015.Compl., ECF M. 1. An Amended @mplaint
was filed onDecember 8, 2015Am. Compl., ECF No7. Plaintiffs thengrappled for yearto
fulfill the requirements for sece on Defendant Irardue to the lack of diplomatic relations
between tB United States and Iran. On October 10, 2017, this Court issisdnarandum
Opinion and Order deeming service effectigsuant to 28 U.S.C. Section 1608(a)(#)emo.
Op. and Order, ECF No. 2Approximately one month latethé Plaintiffsfiled a Motion for a
Default Judgmenta supportingMemorandunand Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of
Law; andsworn declarations by the Plaintiffejo witnesses to the incident, and two expelst.
for Default Judg., ECF No. 30; Memo. in supporthdt. for Default Judg, ECF No. 3€2.
Plaintiffs urged this Court to bypass holding a hearing anithtbthe sworn declarationand
proposed findings of fact and conclusions of faficient to satisfy the requirement of the FSIA,
28 U.S.C. Section 16(@8), that a claimant mustestablish ] [hig] claim or right[to] relief by
evidencehat issatisfactory to the court.Reed v Islamic Republic of Ira845F. Supp. 2d 204,
211 (D.D.C. 2012). In its discretiohpwever,this Court decided to hold a bentrial with live
witnessesnstead of relyingolelyon sworndeclarations.

The Court held abench trialon April 24, 2018 at which time Plaintiffs offered

documentary, photographic and video evidence, tiay presented (1) live testimony by



Yonadavs parentspnesibling, and twoexpert witnesseq2) deposition testimongf two eye
witnesses and one additional expert witness; and (3) depotastimony and/or affidavits by
Yonadavs other eleven siblingsT his hearingddressed both thaintiffs’ claims onliability and
the resulting damagegfter thetrial, Plaintiffssubmitted PosHearingProposed Findings of Fact

and Conclusions of LaiECF No0.39.

ll. LEGAL STANDARD

The entry ofdefault judgment is governed by Fed. R. Cio®. “The determination of
whether a default judgment is appropriate is committed to theetimeiof the trial court. Hanley-
Wood LLC v. Hanley Wood LL.@83 F. Supp. 2d 147, 150 (D.D.C. 2011) (citiagkson v. Beech,
636 F.2d 831, 836 (D.C. Cir. 1980)). Before granting default judgment, the Cosirtsatisfy
itself of its jurisdiction, and[t]he party seeking default judgment has the burden of establishing
both subject matter jurisdiction over the claims and personatjation over the defendagit
Thuneibat v. Syrian Arab Republit67 F. Supp. 3d 22, 33 (D.D.C. 2016).

Under the FSlAspecifically this Courtcannot entedefault judgment against a foreign
state“unless the claimant establishes his claim or right to relief by eadsatdsfactory to the
court?” 28U.S.C. § 1608(e)seeFraenkel v Islamic Republic of IraB92 F.3d 348, 35@.C. Cir.
2018)(To obtain a default judgment in a Section 1605A action, plasridive to establish a right
to relief by providing'evidence satisfactory to the collitRoeder v. Islamic Republic of IraB33
F.3d 228, 232 (D.CCir. 2003)(“The court . .has an obligation to satisfy itself that plaintiffs have
established a right to reli&f. “[ T]he FSIA leaves it to the court to determine precisely how much
and what kinds of evihce the plaintiff mugprovide; Han Kim v. Democratic Peopke Republic
of Koreg 774 F.3d 1044, 1047 (D.C. Cir. 2014), dhdlncontroverted factual allegations that are

supported by admigde evidence are taken as tru@huneibat 167 F. Supp. 3d at 3%ection
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1608(e) “des not require the court to demand more or different evidence thanld normally
receive; . . indeed, the quantum and quality of evidence that might satisfy acaube less than
that normally required. Owens v Republic of Sudaé864 F.3d 751785 (D.C. Cir. 2017{citations
omitted) petition for cert. filegl864 F.3d 751 (Mar. 6, 2018) (No.-1406).
Il . FINDINGS OF FACT 2

The following Findings of Faatcounta tragic event.They detail thenurderof Yonadav
Hirshfeld, a young marattending a school in Jerusalem, Israel, where a shooter purposefully
targetedlewishstudents.As discussed further below, in addition to expert testimonyweddiy
the Court,threemembes of Yonadavs family testified at the Cour$ bench trialregardingthe
circumstances surrounding the death of their loved one. The Couwtipes thaproviding such
testimony was extremely difficult for each witness, as it requireth torevisit publicly what was
likely the most tragic event in their lives. Theutt also acknowledges that the current legal
proceedinggannot make these family members whole again or even ease their pain.

The Court’s Findings of Fact are based on testimony presentedlaritie trialheld in

this matter ormApril 24, 2018 aswell as evidence submittgatior to andduring thattrial.® The

2 The Courts findings of fact pertain to liability and damages. The Court corsidssth
aspects of this case duringtApril 24, 2018 bench trial and did not refer the damage
determination to a Special Master.

3 In addition to the live testimony at trial, this Court consideredidtiowing evidence that was
submitted prior to the trial: Declarations by Amiel Hiedbdf Aviya Freedman, Hana (Hirshfeld)
Shandorfy, Elyashiv Schmuel Hirshfeld, and Elisheva Hirshfaldoghalf of minors S.H. and
E.H.). SeeMot. for Default Judg., ECF No. 30, Exs. 10, 12, 16, 17, 18 and 19. The Court also
considered the following evidee that was submitted at trial: tthe bene essgeposition
transcripts of witnesses Shimon Balsam (read into the recordyeBAuda Kofman (read into the
record), Nehemiya Hirshfeld, Zimrat Bracha (Hirshfeld) ZuckermagaHtamital (Hirshfeld)
Novick, Yedidya Hirshfeld, David Yinon Hirshfeld, and expert witness Magkeldblut; and
exhibits 1, 2, 3, 4,6 (expert CVs only), and 8SeeExhibit List, ECF No. 37.Citations to
testimony from the bench trial are in the following forniatame, Tr. page nuper,’ i.e., witness
name and transcript page number.



Court’s findings fall into hreeoverarching categories: (Hamasandlran's material support for
it; (2) how that support resulted in the deatlyohadav Hirshfeldn this case(3) factsrelevant
to the determination of the damages which are warranted with regalthtadav’'s parents,
siblings, and higstate.
A. Iran’s Material Support for Hamas

The facts contained in this sectiarelargely derivel from the testimony of two experts
with extensive experience studying, writing, and testifying abount 1&r. Patrick Clawson, the
Directorof Research at The Washington Institute for Near East Policy, and DheMaltevitt, a
Senior Fellow and Directoof the SteinProgram onCounterterroism andlIntelligenceat The
Washington Institute for Near East Policy. Clawson Tr. 71; LevittSI* As a preliminary
matter,Hamas may be characterized as a Palestinian political organigaiowasfounded in
1987 with a purpose of carrying omtilitant attacks against Israednd which haseffectively
controlled the Gaza Strip since 200TClawson Tr. 7475; Levitt Tr.89-90 (“Hamas is a U.S.,
European, and othalesignated terrorist organizatian,. [b]ut it is a movement and it has other
componentgoo [political and social welfare] . . . [and] these componemsised to leverage its
ability to wage, in its terms, jihad, or a holy i) ; Am. Compl. 1 134 (“Hamas is listed by
the United States Department of State as a Foreign Terrorist OrganiZ&li®”)” and has been

listed as [such] since 1997.”); Am. Comp. {1 (“Hamas is listed as a Specially Designated

4 Having considered the requirements set forth in Federal Rule of Eeid@?2 for the
admission of expert testimony, the Court qualified Dr. PatrigkMSbnas an expert on Iras
economy and support terrorist organizations. Clawson Tr. E%. 5 (Dr. Clawson Curriculum
Vitae) and qualified Dr. Matthew Levitt as an expert on Hamastarishancing and support and
state sponsorship by Iran. Levitt Tr. 87; Ex. 6 (Dr. Levitt Curricultitae).

5> Hamas is short for Harakat-Mugawamah alslamiyya or“the Islamic Resistance
Movement. Cohen v. Islamic Republic of Ira@38 F. Supp. 3d 71, 77 (D.D.C. 2017).
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Global Terrorist (“®GT”) pursuant to Executive Order 13224” and has been listed like thag"sin
October 31, 2001.”)Therelationship between Hamas and Iran became close after1386er
the Palestine Liberation Organization reached an agreement with thadétanians turned to
Hamas, a more militant organization, to sponsor terrorist attaelssadsrael, and this ishen
Iran started providing Hamas with material supp@awson Tr. 7475.

The Court finds thatan providedsubstantiamaterial support tblamadeading up tand
immediatelybeforeand including the date of tiMercaz Harav Yeshivancident, which ocurred
on March 6, 2008.Clawson, Tr. 780. During this period,ran lent support toHamasby
providing weaponrymunitions training, andnillions of dollars infinancial support ClawsonTr.
75-79. The fact that Iran providedubstantialssistance to Hamas was acknowledged by the
United States Department of State in its Country Reports on Banrgovering the years 2007
and 2008. Clawson Tr. 76. Furthermdfiemas operatives weto Iranfor military training, and
this connection between Hamas and Iran was openly acknowledged instifarhasad of Hamas,
Khaled Mashalwent to Tehran and met with seniwanian officials, including the Ayatollah
Khamenei. Clawson Tr. 76n June 2007 and again in February 2008, the Iranian foramgster
met with Khaled Mashal. Clawson Tr. 76.

The Court finds thatran providedmost ofHamass financing and resourcing during the
periodleading up théviercaz Haraweshivashooting and this includes material support in the
form of funding, weapory; training in-kind services, and ideological support. Levitt Tr, 89
112-113 Clawson Tr. 74 (“Iran has always provided support for Hamas . d ¢airnng the times
when the relationship was close, like that in 2007, 2008, Iran provideddHamvery substantial
material support.”Millions of dollars were provided by Iran to Hamas, with an uptick indipen

in 2003, 2004, and 2007. Levitt Tr. 21Q1; Clawson Tr. 77 (“A very respected Arab newspaper



published in London called Aharg AtAwsa . . . said, in May of 2008, that Iran pledged $250
million to Hamas.”) Financial suppontvas not onlybeing providedo the active terrorist wing of
Hamas known as Qassam, but also to the rest of Hamas. Levitt-91.(§9]he evidence of
Iranian funding for Hamas is overwhelming, including statements frgamidn officials
themselves, statements from Hamas officials themseasesvell as “U.S. officials, again, just
days before this attack talking about how the majority of the dingnHamas gstit gets from
Iran.”)

In the days leading up to the March 6, 2008 shooting at gneayl Haav Y eshivaHamas
had threatened attacks. Levitt TR-94 (“In the period leading up to the attack in question, we
created the, kind of, environment of tensieading up to what happened in Jerusalem in March
2008.”). In anattack like the one at the étaz Haav Yeshiva,a shooter wouldikely need
training to learn to quickly load and reload a weapon, and how to movedaadocation and fire
at the samemeto ensure operational succedsevitt Tr. 107. The type of training provided by
Iran encompassed everything from small arms and special capabiligageér training, making
explosives, handling/reassembling weapons, and kidnapping. Oevif05106. A few days
after the March 6, 2008 shooting, Iranian and Hamas officials maigers&nts whereby they noted
that 300 Hamas operatives had beemtst® Iran for training, and.50 of them were still there.
Levitt Tr. 9091.

In the immediataftermath of the attack, the assailant was identified by Israeli auglorit
as Alaa Abu Dhein. Levitt Tr. 995. At that time, there were conflicting claims of responsibility
for the attackand Hamas did not explicitly say whether it took credit for ttaekbr not, although
an official Hama announcement praised the attack. Levitt TF995 There argolitical and

operationadkecurityreasons foadelayed claim of responsibilinggardinganattack particularly



in sensitive ases such as thisne involving an attack on civilian students in Jerusalem, and these
reasons includeoncerns aboupreparing forreprisal against Hamas in geneeald Hamas
infrastructure in the Gaza Strip, as wellpreviding time for persons who aided in the attack to
escape.Levitt Tr. 99101. Ultimately, in December of 2010, on thé"2®iniversary of Hamas'’s
founding, the Hamas prime minister and a head of the Qassam Bjngéitéey terrorist wing of
Hamas]made statements an official Hamas publicatiooalled Path to Glory whereby Hamas
took responsibility for the March 6, 2008 MercazrédaYeshiva attack, and tis claim of
responsibility hasiever been rescinded. Levitt Tr. 1004.

As primarily relevant to this case, the support described abgvean was crucial to
Hamas. The Court is satisfied by Plaintiffs’ showing thietn's support and sponsorshiptédmas
was awell-known matter oflranian policy, and further, that Iran not only providedhost of
Hamas’s findingover the course ahanyyears, including at the time of the attack at isfue,
Iran also assisted Hamas in obtaining weaponry and grayvtdaining and other resource$n
short, the Court finds thdtan provided material support tdamas athe timeof the incident
underlyng this case-March 6, 2008

B. Hamas Materially Supported by Iran, Killed Yonadav Hirshfeld

Next, the Court finds thaHamas,supported byiran, is responsible for the death of
Yonadav Hirshfeld On March 6, 2008, Yonadav visited his grgeaindmotler at her house, and
he checked in with his mother by teleph@meund 7:30 p.mand told her he plamlto come
home that night after his evening studies at the Mercaz Harav Yeshiva because heonaated
some boys on a hike the following daylisBevaHirshfeldTr. 15-16. Later that eveningyonadav
was standing near the entrance to Mercaz Hailk&ing with his fellow studentsShimonBalzam
and Zvi Yehuda Kofmagrwhen thethree of thensaw a man of Arab appearance carrying a large

televisionbox. Seelranscript ofApril 10, 2018 Deposition of Shimon Balzg“Balzam Depo.”),
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at 910; Transcript oMarch 19, 2018 Deposition of Zvi Yehuda Kofm@Kofman Depa”) at 9
105 When the man was approximately taothreemeters away from the boys, pat down the
box and took out a Kalashnikov rifle and began firing in the boys’ tibrec BalzamDepo.10;
KofmanDepo.12. The boys sawtherstudents running, and they began running away from the
man toward the building which houses the classrooms, whichetageri4 and20 meters away.
Balzam Depo. 11; Kofman Depo. 13-14. Yonadav was running behind Mr. Kofman, and Mr.
Kofman felt Yonadav’'$lood spraying onto his arm and vaguely remembered Yonadav shouting
as Mr. Kofman ran toward the women’s section of the building. Kof®epo.13-14. Mr.
Kofman was not injurgdbut as he ranhis shirtbecamecovered with bloodhat must have been
Yonadav’s because Mr. Balzastarted runnindater and was farther awaiofmanDepo.14-15
24-25.

Yonadav ran to the entrance where there were stairs that went down on tige, l@fihch
he made it to the bottom of the stairs befailng, andit was estimated thatinning to that point
would have takemim approximately 15 secondss it is 2625 meters from where they were
standing when the shooting begdwfman Depo. 4, 16-17. When Mr. Balzam entered the
building and started going down tsiirs, he observed Yonadav lying on the landing between the
two stairwells, so he concluded that Yonadav must have run ahead,duti Mr. Balzam kept
going past YonadabecauseMr. Balzamhad been shand was in shockBalzamDepo.11-12.

Neither M. Balzam nor Mr. Kofman could sagxactly when Yonadav died, buhey both

® The Court admitted the deposition testimony of fact witnessdeBialzam and Zvi Yehuda
Kofman, two of Yonadas schoolmates who were with him on the day of the incident, as part of
the trial testimony.Mr. Balzanis testimony was read into the recatdr. 64, and a videotape
re-enacting the events of March 6, 2008, which was narrated by Mr. Balzarshaas. See

Exhibit 8 (video); Tr. 65, 67. Mr. Kofmas testimony was read into the record at Tr-116.



indicated thatronadav waslive immediately after he was shot because he ran into the building
until he reached the std@andingwhere he fe|lwhich isabout4 meterdrom where he entered the
building. Balzam Depo015-16; Kofman Depo. 1718. Medical help arrivedpproximately 20
minutes after the attack commedgcand Yonadav’s lifeless body was found on the staircase at
that time Balzam Depol3-15, 29 Kofman Dgo. 15-17"
C. Yonadav Hirshfeld

1. Background

Yonadav was the fifth ohirteensiblings born to Elisheva Hirshfel@E. Hirshfeld”) and
her husband Zemach HirshfgltZ. Hirshfeld”). E Hirshfeld Tr. 7,9, 10. When Yonadav was
one year old, his parents, who resided in Israel, registered him a#ed States citizen. E.
Hirshfeld Tr. 9;seeEx. 2 (Certification oBirth Abroad of aCitizen of the United Stat@s As a
child, Yonadav wadull of life and mischievousheliked challenges and was “quick on his feet”
during argumentsand hewas also friendly and loved to read and play with balsHirshfeld Tr.
10; Z. Hirshfeld Tr. 4641. Yonadav's father recalled thg#bnadav liked school and enjoyed trips,
particularly those that involved a bit of a risk. Z. Hirshfeld Tr. ¥bnadav always did well in
school but it was not until high school that he developed disciplihes studiesparticularly his
religious stuees.E. Hirshfeld Tr. 1213, Z. Hirshfeld Tr. 4342. In high school, Yonadav was a
talented student who scored high grades, and he liked to learn, write poé@rmsi®ries, play the
recorder, dance and hike. E. Hirshfeld Tr1®3He was also a counselfmr a community youth
group. E. Hirshfeld Tr. 1:34. Upon completing high school, Yonadav began his studies in 2008

at the Mercaz Hav Yeshiva in Jerusalem, which offered religious studies. E. Hidshfe 14

" The Court notes that the testimony o ¥ehuda Kofman was consistent with the testimony of
Shimon Balzam in terms of describing the events leading up to db&rghand death of
Yonadav Hirshfeld on March 6, 2008.
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15. He wasl8 years old anah his firstyear at théMlercaz Harav Yeshiva at the time the shooting
incident occurredTr. 4; E. Hirshfeld Tr. 15.

Elisheva Hirshfeld describedYonadav’s relationships with his siblingss follows:
“[e]verybody thought [Yonadav] liked them the best” ahd foved to play with them, he loved
to talk to them, he loved to have fun.” E. Hirshfeld 10, 12. Yonadav loved to play with and
talk to all his siblings as well as playing ball and other games higt nieces and nephews. E.
Hirshfeld Tr. 1212. Yonada was also very thoughtful about spending time with his grandparents.
E. Hirshfeld Tr. 14.In Yonadav’s family €verybody felt closeand Yonadawvas “very much”
liked by his brothers and sistebait because of the age spread amongitiimgs some ofwhom
were adults, they saw each other mostly on the weekends. E. Hirshfé@ T2.

2. The Incident antimmediateAftermath

At approximately 8:30 p.m. on March 6, 2088shevaHirshfeldreceived a call from one
of Yonadav's friendsinquiring if she had been in touch with Yonadav and informing her that there
was a terrorist attack at the Mercaz Havashiva. E. Hirshfeld Tr15-16. Zemach Hirshfeld
was volunteering on ambulance dthat evening, when he heard that somethiag happenedt
Mercaz HaravYeshiva and he returned home to await further news. Z. Hirshfeld Tr. 42.
Yonadav's brother Shalom Hirshfelts. Hirshfeld”), who was 14years oldwas on his way back
from a visit to the OId City in Jerusalem wgbmefriends in a car opeated by his neighbors,
when one of his friends heard about the attack on the radio and cornhayadformation to
Shalom, who started trembling uncontrollably. S. Hirshfeldb0. By the time Shalom got home,
everyone in the family was vengrvousand peopldegancoming to th& house taawait news of

Yonadav. S. Hirshfeld Tr. 553.
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That eveningElishevaHirshfeldtried to contact Yonadav, who did not have a cell phone,
by calling his friends at th&lercaz Harav Yeshiva E Hirshfeld Tr. 1617. At some point,
ElishevaHirshfeld or her sorin-law spoke to someone at the Mercaz Haraghivaoffice who
said that they had seen Yonadav and would tell him to call home.irdhfétd Tr. 1617, Z.
Hirshfeld Tr. 4243, Hours passed with no phone lceibm Yonadavas thefamily grew
increasingly morevorried, finally, at around 11:45 p.itheir community rabbi came by to inform
thefamily that Yonadawhad died E. Hirshfeld Tr. B; Z. Hirshfeld Tr. 43

In the early morning hoursf March 7, 2008ZemachHirshfeld had to go to Jerusalem to
identify his son’s body. E Hirshfeld Tr. 19; Z. Hirshfeld Tr. 44e atmosphere in the houager
thatday was “very, very heavy” andéejverybodywas confusedwith] very mixed feelings” and
“there was naoom for anything else but the feelings and thoughts about widtheppened.

S. HirshfeldTr. 54, 56. Yonadav'sfirst funeral service was combined with a service for the other
7 boys who diedbecause othe shootingand there was also a second, smaller, private seatice
Kochar Hashachar, where he was burigd.Hirshfeld Tr. 2621; Z. Hirshfeld Tr. 445.
Yonadav’s death certificate lists the “reason for death” as “terrorist dttédbeEx. 3 (Death
Certificate).

3. Testimony of Family Members

a. Elisheva Hirshfeldyonadav’smothef

ElishevaHirshfelds description of the events of March 6, 2008 folloWhen Elisheva
Hirshfeld (“Elisheva”) found out that there was an attack in pregaethe Mercaz Harav Yeshiva

and she could not get in cawt with Yonadav, she began to have a feeling of dread and imagined

8 Elisheva Hirshfeld is a United States citizen resident in IsraeHirghfeld Tr. 78.
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Yonadav hiding in a closet and being afraid to come®o&. Hirshfeld Tr. 1617. Elisheva
suggested to her husband that they drive to Jerusalem and go look for w dnddeer husband
told her that the roads were closed anyhow. E. Hirshfeld Tr. 17. rsiethiought upon learning
that Yonadav was dead was disbelie€ausé[h]e was such a special bdyhis] can’t happen to
him,” and later she felt “dried out and empty.” E. Hirshfeld Tr. 18. Discussing theral,
Elishevanotedthat the first service was for all 8 boys that had been killed at the Mercaz Har
Yeshiva and it was “something very Bigndbroadcasbvertelevision and the radio. E. Hirshfeld
Tr. 20. The second serviegasa private ceremony for Yonaddwt it drewa crowd of hundreds

of people. E. Hirshfeld Tr. 21. Elishestated that ‘ijt was like nothingeal” and her family
members were “cryig and hysterical.d.

Elisheva and her husbamdtended asupport group comprised of other families dealing
with similar attacksfor a period of two years after the incident, whigds helpfuland several of
her children went to a psychologiahdsome went to art therapy for a month or two. E. Hirshfeld
Tr. 21-23. The family has memorials every year to remember Yonad@nesponsored by the
Mercaz Harav Yeshiva and a more private memorial at the cemetang it makes her feel good
that Yonadav is not forgotterk. Hirshfeld Tr. 23.

Elisheva testified that she and her husband opened an estate for Yonadav York
State, with Dr. Michael Engleberg as the administratorHitsShfeld Tr. 23 SeeEx. 4 /5/2016
Decree granting Limited etters of Administration issued by New York County Surrogate’s

Court).

% According to Elisheva, the Mercaz Harav Yeshiva campus contains a high atiese
religious and secular subjects are taught and an instittitegbfer learningj where only*holy
subjects are taught. Yonadav was in his first yeéstudies at the institute. E. Hirshfeld Tr-14
15.
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b. Zemach Hirshfeldyonadav’sfather®

ZemachHirshfeld's recollection of the events of March 6, 2008 follows. &&mHirshfeld
(“Zemach”) is a circumciser by trade but htso volunteerswith an ambulance serviceZ.
Hirshfeld Tr. 39, 42. While on an ambulance call on March 6, 2008, he heandhauo@ation
regardingsomething happening at the Mercaz Haraghivaandthe newshat many people had
been injured. Z. Hirshfeld Tr. 4Zemach headed back home and waited with his wife and family
he remembersalling the Mercaz Harav Yeshiva and hoping to hear from Yonaddwurther,
that people were gatheringt their family home. Z. Hirshfeld Tr. 4243. Zemach assumed that
Yonadav was safe until the rabbi and social worker arrivedtremhe understood that Yonadav
was dead.Z. Hirshfeld Tr. 43. Zemach was asked to come to identify the lzoalyhe said that
while he seemed strong because he was focusing on what he needed to do, he lagslihgd a f
like he*could notcontain or grasp whgtvag happening.”Z. Hirshfeld Tr. 4344. He described
his feeling at the funeral as follows:

In the first funeral | had no fution or position, just to be- to fe[el] torn. In the second

funeral, | was able to speak foror, togive the- - give the- - | cried, | yelled continuously.

| prepared ahead of time the headlines of what | was going to say. | felthidchelp

from the All Mighty to do it in a good way.
Z. Hirshfeld Tr. 45.

Zemach testified that he had a strong faith that allowed him to have switbawut
frustration and helped him get through the difficulties of dealindp Wionadav’'s death.ld.

Zemach participates in the annual memorials for Yonadav, as aoraembers of the community,

and every yeavhenZemachspeaks at the memorials, thies to take'Yonadav’'sstories or poems

10 zemach Hirshfeld is a United States citizen resident in Isradfirghfeld Tr. 39.
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[ ] to build whatlhgl hgs] to say around [them].” Z. Hirshfeltr. 46. Zemach misses the “future
that will never be” in terms of not seeing who Yonadav would haveedasr knowing Yonadav’s

children or “how would be hituture?” Z. Hirshfeld Tr. 47.

c. Shalom Hirshfeld, Yonadav's brothér

ShalomHirshfeld (“Shalom”) testified live before the Court at the ih@d, 2018 bench
trial. At the time of Yonadav’'s death, Shalom wdsygars old. SHirshfeld Tr.54. On the
evening of the incident, Shalom was traveling back from a visit toltheity in Jerusalem with
his friends and some neighbors when he heard a report on the radlzetleaivas an attack at the
Mercaz Haav Yeshiva S. Hirshfeld Tr. 50, 52. Shalom started trembling uncontrollabliie
contemplatedvhetherYonadav was safe. $lirschfeldTr. 50-51. The neighbors operating the
car had a son who also studied at the Mercaz Harav Yeshiva, and the mother wasaatbect
her son but shewas crying in the car, which added to theavy and intensedtmospherén the
car. S. Hirslield Tr. 52. When Shalom got home, the atmosphere was “very, very stressed” for
several hours. S. Hirshfeld Tr.-53. Shalom sat around and drank water to try to deal with his
stress, while more and more people began arriving at his famdyreh S.Hirshfeld Tr. 53.
Finally, the rabbi arrived and Shalawemheardthe rabbi’svoice along with a loud cry from his
mother, and his father asking for verification, and that's when he kwsadav had beekilled.
S. Hirshfeld Tr. 534. Shalom slept thatight and when he woke up, thatrhosphere at home

was very, very heavy.” S. Hirshfeld Tr. 54,

11 Shalom Hirshfeld has dual citizenship with Israel and the UniteésSt&. Hirshfeld Tr. 49;
see alsdConsuar Report of Birth Abroad, ECF 38. Each of Yonadav Hirshfeld eleven other
siblings provided evidence of their United States citizenship in tine d@ a Consular Report of
Birth Abroad, which is attached to their individual declarabr deposition.
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Shalom testified that Yonadav’s death did not seem real until heffgibte bus going to
the placewhereYonadav’'sfuneral service was being held and he shevdeath announcement
with Yonadav’s name on it, and then he started to cry. S. Huiskfe55. The funeral service
was crowded with people, and many people from inside and outside ohtheunity came to the
family’s home to show their respect. Sirdtfeld Tr. 55. Fora periodafter Yonadav’'s death,
Shalomfelt like there “was no room for anything else but the feelingsthoughts about what
had happened” and everyone in the family “was confused, [witf]mewed feelings” and family
members weré@ughing and crying over stories about Yonadav. S. Hirshfeld Tr. 56.

Shalom wasvery, veryclos€ to Yonadaw he and Yonadav and their brother Elyashiv
shared a room. S. Hirshfeld Tr.,%8 He and Yonadav had an arrangement whereby they would
bike over together or take turns biking over to clean the area aroungndgogue. SHirshfeld
Tr. 58. Shalom looked up to Yonadav as a “perfect person” and recollestégdat sense of
humor” and “welldeveloped imagination” which Yonadav used to magestories to humor his
siblings. S. Hirshfeld Tr. 589. Shalom also recalled that Yonadav was a serious student,

especially when it came to religious studies. S. Hirshfeld Tr. 59.

d. Zimrat Bracha Zuckerman (nee Hirshfeld), Yonadav’s sister

Zimrat Bracha Zuckerman (“Zimrat”) is the oldest siblinghe Hirshfeld family, anghe
was 25 years old wheyonadavdied. SeeTranscript of Zimrat Bracha (Hirshfeld) Zuckerman’s
April 10, 2018 Deposition (“ZimraDepo?), at 7. Zimrat thinks that sheeard about the terrorist
attack at Mercaz Hav Yeshivaon an Israeli news website. Zimiaépo.8. She contacted her
parents, who said that they could not reach Yondmawsomeone had seen him, and Zimratedait

for further information. Znrat Depo9. Zimrat's brother Yedidya later called Zimrat's hushand
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and from the exchange on the telephone, that's when she realized that Ybaddaeen killed
even though no one explicitly said so. Zinfb&po. 1011. Zimrat and her husband drove to her
family’s house, and it was aérydifficult atmosphere” in the car. Zimr&tepo.11. There were
many people at the house and Zimrat stayed theranigtatt with her parents. Zimrddepo.12.
Zimrat described th8hivaas a “very funny week” when the fagnkept talking about Yonadav
and his jokes and prankZimrat Tr. 14. She indicated that she “[didn’t] think [she] hadaae
special relationship [with Yonadav] than any of the other sibliagigbugh she did “run after him
when he was very naughtyhen he was youngednd she babysat for hinZimrat Depo. 14-15.
When Yonadav was older, he would show her poanasstoriedie wrote, and she thought they
were funny. ZimraDepo.15. To this day, she thinks of Yonadav and the kind of life he might
have and the jokes he wouidve shamwith the family, and she remembers the funny stories he
would tell during family car rides. Zimr&tepa 1516. Zimrat stated that “[b]eyond the loss and
the sorrow and the painYonadav’'s death affected her heatibofar as she was pregnant at the
time he was murderednd she developed diabetes. ZinDapo.16. Zimrat never sought any

counselingafter Yonadav's deathZimratDepo.16-17.

e. Haya Hamital Novik (nee Hirshfeld), Yonadav's sister

Haya HamitaNovik (“Haya”) was 24 years old when Yonadav was kill&®eTranscript
of April 10, 2018 Deposition of Haya Hamital (Hirshfeld) Novik (“Hdyepo’), at 7. She learned
about the attack at the MercazrBla Yeshiva from a neighbor who told her. H&gpo.8. Haya
called her parentsand they did not havaformation, so she started praying for Yonadav and

others at thd/lercaz Harav Yeshiva. Hay2epo.12. Haya realized that Yonadav had been killed

17



when her husband’s rabbi asked to come and see them, and she taquiténcomprehend what
was happening.” Hay@epo.13.

Haya described her relationship with Yonadav as her being on “goodwattmell [her]
siblings” in contrast to havingan urusually special relationship with him.HayaDepo.9. She
remembered Yonadav playing the recorder with his friend and alveaysgha joke to tell when
he answered the phone. H&@po0.11. She described Yonadav as “very popular” in their family.
Id. Haya thinks about Yonadav on the anniversary otlbath and every time there is a family
wedding or celebration. Hay2epo.13-14. Haya speculates that her brother would have been a
rabbiconsideringhis “talents and capabilities.” Hayepo.17. Haya talked about going to the
annual memorials for Yonav and visiting his gravesite. Haya Depo. Hhaya’s husband has
started a nowprofit religious organization called “Close to Me” in Yonadav's reynand its

purpose isto increase the study of Torah among Jewish p€oplayaDepo.17.

f. YedidyaHirshfeld, Yonadav’s brother

Yedidya Hirshfeld (“Yedidya”) was22 years old when Yonadav was killedSee
Transcript of April 10, 2018 Deposition of Yedidya Hirshfeld (“Yedidyepo?), at 6. On the
evening that Yonadav was killed, Yedidya was at the Mitzpe YerY@ghiva where he was a
student, when he heard about the attack at the Mercaz Masawa YedidyaDepo.8. Yedidya
called home and was told that Yaolav had been seen outside the library but that he had not been
heard from, so Yedidya should check back in a half hour. Yedbdym.8-9. Yedidya called
repeatedlyand a neighbor who answered the phone told him to come home, so heowildkest
Yonadav had been killed, and he then informed his brother andwistdived in the samewn

and were unaware of what had happened. Yedisyzo. 910.
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Yedidya described his relationship with Yonadav as good; they vaésays very, very
happy to meet one another, to be tog¢théalnd [they] had [their] family jokes that [they]
sharefl]” and they studied the Mishna (basis for Jewish law) together. dyaBiepa 10-11
Yedidya was very impressed with Yonadav's knowledge of the Mishmhhanndicated that
Yonadav studied seriousind was unusually talented in his knowledge of the MislYedidya
Depo. 11-14. Yedidya misses Yonadav's sense of humor, and he noted thadao was
“dominant within the familyin a positive way because he was pleasant and made people laugh,
and he was interesting.Yedidya Depol13-14. Yedidya especigl misses Yonadasat family

celebrations, and he finds it difficult to talk about Yonadav. Mgdbepo.14-15.

g. Hana Shandorfy (nee Hirshfeld), Yonadav's sister

Hana Shandorfy (“Hana”) was 20 years old when Yonadav BedDeclaration of Hana
Shandorfy (“Hana Decl.”), at §3. Because of their proximity in age, stieranadav were very
closeand had a strong connectjadhey used to help each other with schoolwork and they were
both camp counselors. Hana Ded]. 4 6. Hana described Yonadav &sry happy, always
laughing, helpful and giving to others, and energetic. Hana Decl. 5. addnéonadav were
confidants who had many conversations, both about serious subgdayo-day matters. Hana
Decl. 1 6. They enjoyed each other's company and had a lot in commoa.Décl. 1 4, 6.
Hana’s mothetestifiedthat Hana and Yonadav were “soulmate[s].” E. Hirshfeld Tr. 30.

On the day of the terrorist attack, Hana was at home with her husbandldna/cén she
heard from her brothean-law about the terrorist attack at the Mercaz Hafashiva she called
her parents. Hana Decl. {Hands father asked if Hanahusbandtould try toobtain information

about the shooting since he was also a student at the Mercaz Harav Yeshive\aral lot of
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people and so Hana's husband made many calls tdMigreaz Harav Yeshivéo get reports of
where Yonadav was last sedd. Hana wasvorried,and she felt like she was “hanging between
hope and despair” and she started tesggghach pains and worried she was going into early labor.
Id. When she heard that Yonadav had been killed, Hana was in shock and 'tcdiglelst it.”
Hana Decl. { 8. Even today, Hana still feels Yonadav's loss and shesrhisg dreams about
him, andwishes her children could know him. Hana Decl. 1 9. Hana indicatedaltagvery
family event there is a strong feeling of something lacking, becausad#wensn’t with us” and
she laments that she did not get to see him get married and raiseya faamé Decl.  10Hana’s
mother testified that Hana was traumatized by Yonadav’'s death and she was 1y cadldn’t
accept that someone “so full of life” was gone. E. Hirshfeld Tr. B@na attends the memorials

for Yonadav, and she talks terchildren about Yonadav. E. Hirshfeld Tr. 30.

h. David Yinon Hirshfeld Yonadav’s brother

David Hirshfeld (“David“) was 17 years old when Yonadav was kill8eeTranscript of
April 10, 2018 Deposition of David Yinon Hirshfeld (“Davidepo.”’), at 7. He was in the
classroom athe Mitzpe Yericho Yeshiva when he heard about the terror attack Metttaz
HaravYeshiva, and he started to worry about h@ther Yonadav and his botherlaw, who also
studied there. Davibepo.8. David and his classi&s gathered in the hall to recite prayers and
David remembers that he was crying for hours because he was so worriedl.Depai 9.
Someone said that Yonadav had been seen and that he was okay, soddavm sieep in his
dormitory, but it was a “soowful atmosphere and a lot of crying.” Dawepo.10. David was
lying in bed when his brother Yedidya arrived and said they needed to go hhnmTlhey went

to Hana's house and David overheard his breimdaw talking about Yonadav in the past tense
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and knew for certain he had been killed, although he felt likb&sicallyknew it the whole time.”
David Depo.10. When he got home, “the dam burst” and they “all burst into tead$ \eere
crying the whole night, basically all of us together.” Davepo.11. David slept for an hour or
two, and he woke up cryindd. At the funeral, he was surrounded by friends, and he alternated
between weeping and talking about Yonadav. DBago.12. Afterward, David could notat,

and he had a hard timeturning to theMercaz Haraweshiva. Id. He felt “disconnectetfrom

what was going on, and while he did not seek counseling officla#iyfriends helped him after
Yonadav’s death DavidDepo.13-14.

David haddifficulty putting his relationshigvith Yonadav into words, saying that ient
"beyondjust a relationship with brothefsand it was more o friendship where David would
wait expectantly for Yonadav to return from tiercaz Haraweshiva. DavidDepo.14. David
described Yonadav asufh to be with” and “full of life” and “full of humor and joy.Id. He noted
that he and Yonadav did “silly things together” and Yonadav was a “wongerfdn to be with.”
David Depo.14-15. David and Yonadav went on hikesdtalked and laughetbgeher. David
Depo. 15. Thehad a very close relationship a strong bond— andtheyenjoyed spending time
together. David Depo. 1516. David misses seeing Yonadav at family events and he cried at his
ownwedding when someone mentioned that Yonadav eethare. DavidDepo.16. Even today,
David still experiences a sense of sorrow, and he feeldhéksa more sensitive, empathetic

person after the loss of Yonadav. Dalepo.17.

I. Aviya Freedman (nee Hirshfeld), Yonadav’s sister
Aviya Freedman (“Aviya”) was 15 years old when Yonadav di&keDeclaration of

Aviya Freedman (“Aviya Decl.”), 1 3. Aviya recalled spending many evefillegswith fun and
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laughter with Yonadav, who was “always telling jokes and speaking fommgense,” Aviya Decl.

1 4. She characterized Yonadav as “witty and happy” but she also remembered lyimgstiel
Mishna late at night. Aviya DecY. 45. Yonadav was generous to his friends and family and he
treated them well. Aviya Decl. 16 Aviya remembers him playing his recorder and jumping
in the water first on family trips and being so “happy, sociableof life.” Id.

On the day Yonadav was killed, Aviya was with friends and celebraRoglf Hodesh”
(described by Aviya agtie new Hebrew month when ler friend mentioned that there had been
a terrorist attack in Mercaz Harav Yeshiva. Aviya Decl. 7. Aviya dideally react until she
heard that some boys had been wounded and killed and then she gotscéoetdav and ran
home, where the familywas praying and trying to contact Yonaddd. After the rabbi told the
family that Yonadav had died, Aviya felt “great sorrow and confusiord sime could not
understand what had happened and felt a “feeling of great loke flanily and the whole nation.”
Aviya Decl. 1 8.Aviya’s mother testifid that after Yonadav’'s death, Aviya had a “very hard time
in school” and was “in mourning for a long time” and she got sicki'wiono the year afterwards
which might have been part of her mourning. E. Hirshfeld Tr. 32.

Aviya missesYonadav terribly and feels helpless about being unable to “turn thk clo
back” but she tries to focus on good things that have happened sincea¥Yahed including
“people learning more Torah because of .himviya Decl. 1 9. Aviya laments the loss that she
feels as Yoadav's sister and the “loss for the whole nation because of hislgmrs@nality.” Id.

She named her son Yonatan, after Yonadav, and she feels sad that Yonadal afedes to get

married and have his own children. Aniya Decl. { 10.
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. Nehemiya Hirshfeld, Yonadav’s brother

Nehemiya Hirshfeld (“Nehemiya”yas 12 years old when Yonadav was killeBee
Transcript of April 10, 2018 Deposition of Nehemiya Hirshfeld (“Neh@anilepo’), at 7. On
the evening of March 6, 2008lehemiya was at home thihis family when his mom told him
about the attack at the Mercaz Haiashiva NehemiyaDepo.8. Nehemiya did not begin to
worry immediately because terrorist attacks are quotemon,and someone had said that they
saw Yonadav, but as the evening went on, he and his parents becamenuereetbwhen they
were unable to get in touch with Yonadav. Neherbigpo.8-9. After about four hours, the rabbi
came to the family’s home. Nehemip&po.9-10. Nehemiya did not attach any significance to
the rdbbi’'s visit, and he went to bed where he then heard sounds like laughiygr ddelemiya
Depo.10. Finally, he overheard someone saying thatafan was deadld. When Nehemiya
heard the news, he “felt a chill go through [his] back” and he gerytand “was trembling.”
NehemiyaDepo.11. He felt like he was in shock and did not understand what was goinggdon, a
while everyone was crying, he was “withdrawn into [him]self” and cryingehemiyaDepo.12.
He didn’t know what to do so he sldpt a little while until one of his brothers came in. Nehemiya
Depo1l3.

Nehemiya described higlationship with Yonadass follows:

He was an older brother, someone you play with, someone you havéHuama you do

silly things with and you tell joket® each other. He always knew what to do. We always

found something interesting to fill the time with or go on a tolgether, play an interesting

game.
NehemiyaDepo.14. Nehemiya testified that Yonadav would make up crazy stories tdéell t
family and he would share “embarrassing moments that he had had or furggyttiat he did.”

NehemiyaDepo.15.
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Nehemiya spoke to a social worker after Yonadav’'s death, and heeeseme support
from an organization called “One Family,” insofar as he felt “thatetleas someone who cared
that we’'d lost someone that wayNehemiyaDepo. 16 -17 Nelemiya especially misses Yadav
when he goes to his parents’ house for ShablealsiNehemiya Depo. 16.Nehemiya does not
like being labeled a “bereaved brother,” and he indicated also that he haxf anwiety and fear
about his loved ones in the period after he lost his brother as opposeddr feeling that “it
wolull n’t happen to [them].” NetmiyaDepo.16, 18. Hestatedhathisfamily does not talk about
Yonadav because “[w]e’re a kind of closed people in the faimgigd responded “[n]Jo” when
asked if he has “engaged in any activities in memory of Yonadanty hismemory.” Nehemiya

Depo.17-19.

k. Amiel Hirshfeld, Yonadav's brother

Amiel Hirshfeld (“Amiel”) was 11 years old when Yonadav dieBeeDeclaration of
Amiel Hirshfeld (“Amiel Decl.”), 1 3. Amiel indicated that Yonadav was his “favoritdenl
brother” whom he loved and admired, and he was “deeply affected kgeats.”Id. After
Yonadav’s death was confirmed, Amiel “knew we would never see him agatintolold not
believe it, and he felt shocked, but also had “feelings of anger apdidésAmiel Decl.|{ 4- 5.
Amiel remembers Yonadav vividly, and he considers him his “mosttealeand possibly my
strongest brother,” and used to brag about Yonadav to his frieAdsiel Decl. I 6. Amiel's
mother testified that Amiel admired Yonadav, was proud to be hikdsrdooked to him as a role
model, and would tell his friends what a great brother Yonadav wadirdafeld Tr. 33. Amiel
and Yonadav had a close relatiopshnd Yonadv “always had some time for [him]."Amiel

Decl. 1 6. Amiel feels “a deep emptiness” when he thinks of Yonadad hemisses him and
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regrets that he never got to say goodbye. Amiel Decl. AirBiel’'s mother testified that Amiel

attends thenemorials for Yonadav every year. E. Hirshfeld Tr. 33.

l. Elyashiv £hmuel Hirshfeld, Yonadav's brother

Elyashiv Schmuel Hirshfeld (“Elyashiv”) was 10 years old when Yonaded. dSee
Declaration of Elyashiv Schmuel Hirshfeld (“Elyashiv Decl.”), § Blyashiv recollected that
Yonadav took him out on his back in the deep water before Elyashiv cautd and he
remembered Yonadav as being “full of Jildways telling stories and jokes.” Elyashiv Decl. { 3.
Elyashiv loved and admired Yonadav and éwikeeply affected by his deathd.

When Elyashiv first heard about the attack, he was certain that Yonadé beoairight
because he could not imagine him being hurt, and so Elyashiv was aldep soundly that night.
Elyashiv Decl. § 4. Wherehawoke the next morning, his parents informed him that Yonadav had
been murdered and Elyashiv’s reaction was anger, frustration, nauselskalief that he would
never see him again. Elyashiv Defi1.4-5. Elyashiv indicated that he remembers Yaaad
vividly and the images always stay with him of Yonadav playing chessammg to Synagogue.
Elyashiv Decl. § 6. Elyashiv said he will always miss Yonadav &anfedls sad with a “strong
sense of loss and emptiness” when he thinks of Hilyashiv Det 8. Elyashiv's brother
Shalom testified that Elyashiwho shared a room with Shalom and Yonadared a lot during
Yonadav’s funeral and the death impacted him “very, very,haadd even today, “it’s part of his

identity” as a bereaved brother. Frshfeld Tr. 54, 558.
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m. Elisheva Hirshfeld on behalf afinor EH, Yonadav’s brother

Minor EH was 7 years old when Yonadav di€&keDeclaration of Elisheva Hirshfeld on
behalf ofminor EH (“EH Decl”), 1 3. EH recalls that Yonadav was playful and kind and that he
spent time with him. EH Decl. § 4EH’s mother testified that EH remembergying with
Yonadav and that Yonadav would make up funny stories. E. Hirshfeld TiEESemembers
when Yonade styled his hair into a funny look and he still has a feeling of lov& émadav.EH
Decl.  4.0n the night of Yonadav’'s death, while the family was waiting ford#arm Yonadav,
EH asked everyone in the family to pray together, which they didD&H 9 5. EH remembers
asking God not to let Yonadav daad he remembers crying the next day when his parents told
him Yonadav was deadld. EH does not remember his feeling at the time and may not have
understood what death was but as he mdfure sarted missing Yonadav, and sometimes cried
because of a strong feeling of sadness and loss. EH Decl. { 6. &H&r tnestified that EH did
not attend the memorial services for Yonadav for a few years ladteleath but that he now does,

and he missesohadav and speaks about him. E. Hirshfeld T+226

n. Elisheva Hirshfeld on behalf of minor SH, Yonadav’s brother

SH was 4 years old when Yonadav di€kkeeDeclaration of Elisheva Hirshfeld on behalf
of minor SH (“SH Decl.”) 1 3. SH remembers playingh Yonadav and doing silly things with
Yonadavsuch as jumping from the ledge into Yonadav’s arms or hangingtfie top bunk with
Yonadav holding him. SH Decl.3] SH also remembers Yonadav playing the flute and studying
Torah and spending time \WwitYonadav at family meals. SH Decl. 4. SH recollects that Yonadav
was “always smiling or laughing” and he felt that Yonadav loved hdnSH was “very confused”

by the events surrounding Yonadav’s dedih Hirshfeld Tr. 27. SH did not understamiden his
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parents informed him that Yonadav was dead but as time passed, he realized vilagipkaed
and “felt the loss of Yonadav very acutely.” SH Decl. 185 attends the memorials in honor of
Yonadav. E. Hirshfeld Tr. 28SHwonders what life wold be like if Yonadav had not died and

he speculates that “[m]aybe there would be more happin&s$.Decl. | 5.

The Courtfinds crediblethelive testimonyby ElishevaHirshfdd, on behalf oherselfand
the minor plaintiffs E.H. and S.Handwith respect toplaintiffs Hana, Aviya and Amiels well
aslive testimony byZemach Hirshfeld anidy Shalom Hirshfeldon behalf of himself and Elyashiv
Hirshfeld The Court finds credibléhe deposition testimony of Zimrat Bracha (Hirshfeld)
Zuckerman; Yedidya Hirshfeld; Haya Hamital (Hirshfeld) Novick; Blieiya Hirshfelgd and
David Yinon Hirshfed, and théeclarationsof Hana ShandorfyAviya Freedman Amiel
Hirshfeld Elyashiv Schmuel HirshfeJdandElisheva Hirslield on behalf of minor plaintiffs E.H.
and S.H!2 Accordingly, the Courtoncludes that Yonadatirshfelds parents angiblings have
suffered an immense amount of pain and suffering as a result of osakath and the loss of
their son and brother.

Considering theotality of the testimony and other evidence in this cdse Court finds
that Plaintiffs have presented ample and sufficient evidenceHaataswas responsible for the
attack on the Mercaz Harav Yeshiva on March 6, 20Q8vitt Tr. 101-103 (in an official
publication of the aQassam Brigade&Pathto Glory,” Hamasidentifiedthe attacker bpicture

and by name angrovided “details about the [March 6, 2008] attack that glorify[ied]atit@cker

12 Elyashiv Schmuel Hirshfeld was a minor at the time this case was fiitea/lzen the
Complaint was amended, and as such, he was identified by his armndlss claims were
asserted by his parent€urrently he is over 18 years old and identifies full name and asserts
claims on his own behalf.
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and the attack.” They tookinequivocalresponsibility for the attack, iad that claim of
responsibility has not beentracted.'® Plaintiffs have demonstrated further tlhis terrorist
action would not have been possible without the material suppmridpd to Hamas by Iran.
Levitt Tr. 89 (“The majority of Hamas financing in general, andasely in this period of time
[around March 6, 2008] came from Iran . . . and by financing, . . .allymi@ean financing and
resourcing more generally” which includes not only cash but figndiveaponryand training.),
Clawson Tr. 79 (confirming that Iran provided material suppod resources to Hamas in the
period immediately before and including March 6, 2008); Levitt Tr. 90 {gdthat a British
journalist reported just three days after the Melldarav Yeshiva attack that Hamas previously
sent some 300 operats® Iran for training and 150 of them were still there.)
V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW ON LIABILITY

The Courts Conclusions of Law relating to liability proceedhneeparts. First, the Court
concludes that it has subject matter jurisdiction over Plaintfsms pursuant to the FSI&
terrorism exception, and that Plaintiffs hastablishedatisfactorily their claims for relief under
the federal cause of action associated with that excegBeoond, the Court concludes that it has
personal jurisdiction over the Defendarithird, the Court concludes that Plaintifisought this
action in a timely manner and theguMe a private right of action against Defendam.IfBhe Court

thendiscusses the various claims asserted by the Plaintiffs.

13 Similar claims of responsibility have been relied uposeerabther cases within this court.
See, e.g., Bluth v Islamic Republic of r@a03 F. Supp. 3d 1, 10 (D.D.C. 20163 Hamas
representate claimed responsibility for the Atzmona attgclGill v. Islamic Republic of Iran
249 F. Supp. 3d 88, 94 (D.D.C. 201TW]hen Hamas makes an official claim of responsibility
for an attack, the claim has usually been accujatéoreover, inGill, ashere, the'Qassam
Brigades website includel] the attack on its list of successful attatkkl. See also Weinstein v.
Islamic Republic of Iran184 F. Supp. 2d 13, 19 (D.D.C. 20@HAMAS publicly claimed

credit for the February 25, 1996 attack.”) . .
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A. Subject Matter Jurisdiction

“The FSIA provides abasisfor assertingurisdiction over foreign nations in the United
States.” Price v. Sociailst Peoples Libyan Arab Jamahiriya294 F.3d 82, 87 (D.C. Cir. 2002)
(citation omitted) Pursuant to the FSIA, tl@ourthas“original jurisdiction” over “nonjury civil
action[s]” againstforeign state “without regard to amount in controversif’the clains seek
“relief in personamwith respect to which the foreign state is not entitled to immunity eitizgru
sections 16051607 of this title or under any applicable international agreement.U.28C. §
1330(a) These elements are clearly satisfiedhis case wherPlaintiffs did not demanda jury
trial, they assertedivil causes of action, antthey soughtin personanrelief against Defendant
Iran, which isindisputably a foreign staté. See generallAm. Compl

The question of Defendants’ immunity is mow®mplicated “[A] foreign state is
presumptively immune from the jurisdiction of United Statmsrts; unless a specified exception
applies, a federal court lacks subjeatter jurisdiction over a claim against a foreign staatdi
Arabia v. Nelson507 U.S. 38, 355 (1993). “[E]ven if the foreign state does not enter an
appearance to assert an immunity defense, a District Court still masindet that immunity is
unavailable under thg&SIA].” Verlinden B.V. v. Cent. Bank of Niger#&61 U.S. 480, 493 20
(1983). In the instant caseRlaintiffs asserthat the FSIA's terrorismexceptionto foreign
sovereignmmunity applies The terrorismexceptionstates that:

A foreign state shall not be immune from the jurisdiction of toaf the United

States or othe States in any case not otherwise covered by this chapter in which

money damages are sought against a foreign state for personabinglegth that

was caused by an act of torture, extrajudicial killing, aircraft ts@jep hostage

taking, or the progion of material support or resources for such an act if such act

or provision of material support or resources is engaged in biyicalpemployee,

or agent of such foreign state while acting within the scope of hieooffice,
employment, or agency

28 U.S.C. § 1605A(4)).
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For thisexception to apply, Plaintiffs in this case need to demonstratéhéyadre making
a claim for money damages agailman, a foreign statgor the death of Yonadav Hirshfeld caused
by an act of extijadicial killing carried out by Hamas with material support and resources
provided by Iran.Furthermorethe following two requirements must be mettlig foreign state
defendanmust have been designated a state sponsor of terrorism at the timacifahdemain
so-designateavhen the claim was filedr in the preceding six month§1605A(a)(2)(A)(iXl); and
2) the claimant or the victim in the case must have been a national of the Stateda member
of thearmedforcesor otherwise employed by tli@overnment bthe United States
§ 1605A(a)(2)(A)(i).* See, e.g. Roth Islamic Republic of Irar¥8 F. Supp. 3879, 395D.D.C.
2015);Mohammedi vislamic Republic of Iran782 F.3d 9, 14 (D.C. Cir. 2015)

Some of these elements are clearly satisfied and require little destukss evident that
Plaintiffs are making a claim for money damages against dréoreign sovereigmegardingthe
death of Yonadav HirshfeldSeegenerallyAmended Complaint, EF No. 7.Turning next to the
requirementsset forth inSection 1605(a)(2)(A)Jranis now and has continuously been since 1984,
designated as a state sponsor of terrorism. On January 23, 1984, iraaceavith the Export
Administration Act of 1979Jran was designated by Secretary of State George P. Shultz as a
“country which has repeatedly provided support for acts of inienatterrorism.” 49 Fed. Reg.
283602 (Jan. 23, 1984) (statement of Secretary of State George P. Shihliz)de3ignation is
consistent with Section 1605A’s definition of “state sponsorteforism.” 28 U.S.C.8
1605A(h)(6). Iran continues to be designated data sponsor of terrorismSeeU.S. Dep't of

State,State Sponsors of Terrorishitps://www.state.gov/j/ct/listlA151.htm(last visited August

¥ The arbitration requirement noted in 28 U.S.C. § 1605A(a)(2)(AXiipapplicable because
the act at issue in this case did hotcur[ ] in the foreign state against which the claim has been
brought} i.e., Iran.
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20, 2018. Yonadav Hirshfeldvas a United States citizen, aatlhis family members arenited

States citizes Accordingly, the two requirements of Section 1605A(a)(2)(Aparding Iran’s
designation as a state sponsbterrorism and Yonadav Hirshfeld’s United States citizensrip
satisfied.

More analysis is required ttetermine whether the death in this casseaused byan
“extrajudicial killing’ or Iran’s provision of*“material support or resouréer suchan act. 28
U.S.C. 8 1605A(a)(1)Plaintiffs assert that the murdafrYonadav Hirshfeld waanextrajudicial
killing thatwas caused by Iranteaterial support fothe terrorist organization, Hama¥he Court
concludes that Plaintiffs have presentetis&sctory evidence to suppaach othese assertions.

Under the FSIAthe term'extrajudicial killing” hasthe meaning giveto it in section 8a)
of the Torture Victim Protection Act of 82 (“TVPA"). 28 U.S.C. 8§ 1605A(h)(7)Owens v.
Republic of 8dan 864F. 3d at769 (D.C. Cir. 2017) With respect to “extrajudicial killing,” the
TVPA states that:

For the purposes of this Act, the term “extrajudicial kglimeans a deliberated

killing not authorized by a previous judgment pronounced by a reguatan$tituted

court affording all the judicial guarantees which are recognizetiéspensable by

civilized peoples. Such term, however, does not include any sucty khiat, under
international law, is lawfully carried out under the authoritg ddreign nation.

Torture Victim Protection Act of 1991, Pub. L. No. 1P26, § 3(a), 106 Stat. 73.

First, Plaintiffs have presented evidence satisfactory to the @aiNonadav Hirshfeld
was the victim of an extrajudicial killingThe Court is satisfied by the evidence presented, as
outlined in detail in the Court’s Findings of Fatttat on the evening of March 6, 200&hen
Yonadav Hirshfeldvas at the Mercaz Harav Yeshiva in Jerusalem, Isi@king to his friends
Shimon Balzam and Zvi Yehuda Kofmaa,shooter associated with the terrorist group Hamas
opened fie on thehree young menYonadav Hirshfeldvasshot andwhile he raninto a building

to try to escape, he died a short time later due to the wounds heexlisBoth Shimon Balzam
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and Zvi Yehuda Kofman proffered deposition testimony describing @&l de¢ events of that day.
Clearlythis killing was notauthorized by a prior judgment affording judicial guarantees or due
process, nois suchdeliberate killinglawful underanyinternational law. It is a quintessentially
extrajudicial killing SeeHan Kim 774 F.3dat 1050(*[w]ith respect to extrajudicial killing, the
Kims need demonstrate only that the DPRK killed the Reverend withu@uprocess.”).

Finally, the Court is satisfied that Iran, through its officedsing withinthe scope of their
official duties, provided material support or resources to Haarabsthat Yonadav's death was
“caused by” this support. The FSIA defif@saterial supporor resourcesbroadly, as

any property, tangible or intangible, or serviceludag currency or monetary instruments

or financial securities, financial services, lodging, tragn expert advice or assistance,

safehouses, false documentation or identification, commumsaaquipment, facilities,

weapons, lethal substances, exples, personng|l or more individuals who may be or

include oneself), and transportation, except medicine or redigimaterials.
18 U.S.C. § 2339A(b)(1). As outlined in the Court’s Findings of Faat provided material
support to Hamas by, amonghet things, being the major sourcefioaiincial assistance totaling
millions of dollarsin fundingfor the organization, providing weapons and training for its members,
and encouraging Haméexrrorist attacks againgrael. Moreover, individuals asso@dtwith the
Iranian regime played direct rolesnmeeting with Hamas officials in Tehramd the relationship
between Iran and Hamas was openly acknowledBedardingits finding that Iran provided
material support to Hamas, the Court relies heavily etdstimony of expert witnesses. Patrick
ClawsonandDr. Matthew Levitt. Circuit courts, including this Circuit, have ackfemlged that
expert witness testimony “is of crucial importance in terrorismdsecause firsthand evidence
relating to terrast activities “is difficult, if not impossible, to obtainOwens v Republic of Sudan

864 F. 3chat 787, seeKilburn v. Socialist People’s Libyan Arab Jamahirjya¥6 F. 3dl123, 1132-

1133 (D.C. Cir. 2004)(jurisdiction satisfied based solely upon the declaration of an texper
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witness);Boim v. Holy Land Found for Reli& Dev., 549 F. 3d 685, 704th Cir. 2008)same);
United States v. Damra12 F. 3d 618, 625 {&Cir. 2005) (same).

With respect to the requirement that the killing in this case be “caugéd b
this material support, “[tjhe FSIA’s causation requirement isfe&ad by a showing of proximate
cause.” BenRafael v. Islamic Republic of Ira’®40 F. Supp. 2d 39, 54 (D.D.C. 2008) (citing
Kilburn v. Socialist People’s Republic of IraB76 F.3d 1123, 11239 (D.C. Cir. 2004))In
applying the language of 28 U.S.C. Section 1605A and specifically theeptwaused by,” the
Court notes that this element has been held to be established byghdreasonable connection
between the act or omission of the defendant and the damages whiddirth pas suffered.”
Valore v Islamic Republic of Irarr00 F. Supp. 2d 52, 66 (D.D.C. 2010). This standard requires
a showing of proximate cause rathlthan showing that the injury would not have occurred “but
for” the defendant’s actionKilburn, 376 F.3dat1128. This Circuit has recently reaffirmed the
“proximate cause” standard set out in Kilburn case. Owensv. Republic of Sudai864 F.3ckt
787. The Circuit Court held that proximate cause in the context of this type efeqgires first
that the “defendant’s actions must be a “substantial factor” in theeseq of events that led to
plaintiff's injury” and second that the injury “mustave been “reasonably feseeable or
anticipated as matural consequence” of the defendant’s condudiwens 864 F.3d at 794 (citing
Rothstein v UBS708 F.3d 82, 91 (2d Cir. 2013)). Proximate cause does not require the plaintiff
to show that the defeadts specifically intended the injury and thus, whether the statspof
terrorism “either specifically intended or directly advanced” thaechtat issue in this case is not
relevant. Owens 864 F.3d at 799.

In the instant case, there is more than a “reasonable connection” betwegproarsion

of material support, in the form of financing, weapons, trainirjideological suppoytand the
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act of terrorism in this case. Plaintiffs presented expert testinmayran’s support of Hamas
was given to allow this group to commit precisely the type of militant tastoact in Israel as
occurred in this case. Clawson Tr. 74 (Hamas was foumd&887to carry out militant attacks
against Israel, and Iran turned to Hamas as the “principal instruthegtiised to sponsor terrorist
attacks against Israel)pvitt Tr. 91 (Mere days before the attack, U.S. officials were dssogs
how Iran providd the majority of Hamsis financing); Levitt Tr. 92 (Once Hamas'’s political wing
won elections in 2006, antién took over the Gaza Strip by force of arms from other Palestinian
forces, “Iran increased support again, especially in terms of thesjomowof weapons, which were
smuggled through Sinai into the Gaza Strip through tunnels dug uatiethe Gaz&gyptian
border.”);Levitt Tr. 107 estifying that “one of the things that was most important to Havass
to be able to have what we in the United States might describe as a ‘train the tognamp”);
Clawson Tr. 76 (“[O]n the Sunday after this attack, there was aneaititheSunday Timgof
London by a very noted correspondent . . . who said there had beenolB® fpem Hamas’s
military wing who at that point had been trained in Jran

The Court finds that Iran’s provision of material suppartiresources to Hamas was a
substantial factor in the events that led to the incident at the Mearaz Meshiva whereby eight
young men were killed. Clawson Tr. 75 (“[S]tarting in 1993, Iran praVidw@terial support to
Hamas, and to help Hamas developtssyicated expertise that allowso carry out more deadly
terrorist attacks.”); Levitt Tr. 112 (“What we mean by material supf@ovided by Iran to
Hamas] is the provision of the multiple types of support.to a foreign terrorist organization
[which] would include funds, actual money;kimd services, and other things like weapons or
their services or benefits.”); Levitt Tr. 111 (noting that Iran provided “[m]illions of dollars [ ]

[a]round this time, at a minimum, many tens, probably énlékv hundreds of millions of dollars”

34



and further that it is more “if you start to try and quantify tlosetary value of goods, of rockets
or other things” provided to Hamas).

The Court further finds that the terrorist incident at the MeHaav Yesiva by Hamas
was reasonably foreseeable becaudeaofs conduct. Clawson Tr. 75 (“[A]fter Hamas took over
the Gaza Strip in 2007, . . . we saw the head of Hamas visiting Tehrae aagha lot of assistance
coming from Iran to Hamas . . . [and] judiea days before the episode that brings us here today,
then secretary of state Condoleeza Rice said it was very clear that Iran was aamasg”H In
describing what Iran gets out of the material support it provides taablaDr. Levitt responded
that:

Iran is quite explicit in its desire to eradicate the State of Istgelery clear on this topic,

through and including to today. ... What it gets out of the suppbsding able to have

proxies who are frontline combatants with Israel . . . Hat@ngrist groups like . . . Hamas
on the West Bank and the Gaza Strip able to carry out attacks there and, oficosiael
proper, including, as we saw in this instance in Jerusalemlesniadn to be able to have

a long arm to attack Israel, whiamfortunately, $ a stated goal of that regime.

Levitt Tr. at 93.

Accordingly, Plaintiffs have satisfied the two parts of the stahdar out irDwens—that
Iran’s provision of material support was a substantial factdnarsequence of events leadiong
Yonadav’'s death, and that the shooting at the Mdt@aav Yeshiva, which resulted in Yonadav
being murdered, was reasonably foreseeable or anticipated as a conseglranteauftions.
Having determined that Iran provided material support to Hamas, arttlighstipport caused the
acts of extrajudicial killing at issue in this case, the Court coaslubat it has subject matter
jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ claims under the FSIA’s terrorisxception.

B. Personal Jurisdiction

The Court also hasersonal jurisdictiomver Defendant Iran. “Personal jurisdiction over

a foreign state shall exist as to every claim for relief over whichishectl courts have jurisdiction
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under subsection (ayhere service has been made under section 1608 oftknis 88 U.S.C. §
1330(b). The Court has already concluded that it has subject mateicjion over the claims in
this case. Moreover, service has been made under section 1608. On @O@t@04r7, the Court
issued a Memorandum Opinion and Ordewimch it found that Iran must be treated as a “foreign
state” amenable to process under Section 1608, and that Plaintiisdwadplished service under
Section1608(a)(4). Memorandum Opinion and Order, ECF No. 27. The Court orebep by
reference tl analysisn thatMemorandun©Opinion and accordingly concludes that this Court has
personal jurisdiction over the Defendants. There are no due processxsomraised by the Court’s
exercise of personal jurisdiction over the Defendant because “fostatgs are ndtperson¥
proteded by the Fifth Amendment.Price, 294 F.3d at 96.

C. Timeliness

There is a limitations provision in Section 1605A(b), which $etth thetime during
which an action “may be brought or maintained.” 28 U.S.C. § 1605A (lis l[imitations
provisionis not jurisdictional. See Worley v. Islamic Republic of Ira#b F. Supp. 3d 311, 328
332 (D.D.C. 2014).This section provides that an action may be brought “10 yearsladtelate
on whichthe cause of action arose.” 28 U.S.C. Section 1605A(b)(2). In this casetdtiethtt
gives rise to this civil action occurred on Mag2008 and the Complaint was filed dnly 10,
2015 less than 10 years after the date the cause of action arose. Accordenghgrtiffs claims
are timely under sectinl605A of the FSIA.

D. Plaintiffs’ Private Right of Action

There isafederal private right of actioagainst designated state sponsors of terrorism for
enumerated categories of persons, including “a national of the UnitgdsSor his “legal

representative” for “personal injury or death caused by . . . thagfostate. . . for which the
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courts of he United States may maintain jurisdiction . for money damage$. 28 U.S.C. §
1605A(c). Section 1605A’s private right of action hémur basic requirementselevant to the
Plaintiffs in this case(l) an extrajudicial killing, . . , or the provision of ntaé support or
resources for such an act where (2) the foreign state provided such sapgdhe act (3) caused
aperson death (4pr which courts of the United States may maintain jurtgzhicunder this section
for money damages28 U.S.C. § 1605A(a)(1), 28 U.S.C. 8 1605A (Ehese requirements for a
private right of action have already been discussed in detail in caomegth jurisdiction.

Theindividual plaintiffs in this casenaypursue section 1605A(c)’s private right of action
asthey are all United States citizen3 U.S.C. Section 1605A(c)(1Michael Engelbergwhois
a New York stateesident (Am. Compl. § 10) and may b&rited States citizens before this
Court in his capacity as administrator of Yonadav Hirshfeld’s Estate, and becaursssa
Hirshfeld was a United States citizent.Mngelbergyjualifies undesubsection (c)(49f 28 U.S.C.
Section 1605A (whereby the legal representative of a national of thed 8atesmay maintain
a private right of action)

E. Plaintiffs’ Theories of Recovery

While Section 1605A(c) provides a private right of action, it does neidgeg@uidance on
the substantive bases for liability to determine Plaintiffs'tiemient to damags. As noted by the
Honorable Royce C. Lamberth Roth:

[T]he court is not given the authori(pr duty) to articulate “federal common lawalore,

700 F. Supp. 2d at 76. Instead, because liability under section 1605Afased on

“statutory rights,” federal judges are instructed to “find thevaht law, not to make it.”

Bettis v. Islamic Republic of Ira815 F.3d 323, 333 (D.C. Cir. 2003)hus, judges may

not “fashion a complete body of law” in considering claims under set60B6A(c). Id.
Based on the D.C. Circuit’s guidance, district courts in thisdigt®n “rely on well

15 A “national of the United &te$ means &citizen of the United Statésr a person owing
“permanent allegianteo the United States, as per the definition set forth in 8 U.S.C. §
1101(a)(22). 28 U.S.C. § 1605A (h)(5).
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established principles of law, such as those found in the Restat&eeand) of Torts and

other leading treatises, as well as those principles that have been daotitednajority

of state jurisdictions” to define the elements and scope of these thedriecovery.

Ovadssi, 879 F.Supp. 2d at 54 (quotirg re Islamic Republic of Iran Terrorism Litigs59

F. Supp. 2d 31, 61 (D.D.C. 20Q9)

Roth 78 F. Supp. 3d &99.

The plaintiffs in this action bring claims under 28 U.S.C. Section A@)50n behalf of
themselves and/or the Estate of Yonadav Hirshfeldwrongful death, survival, and intentional
infliction of emotional distregsolatium Amended Complaint, ECF No.}7Plaintiffs alsoplead
theseclaims arising under undefined “state law.” Plaintiffs can onlsehane recovery for their
injuries, re@rdless of the number of theories upon which they base their com@amtkassman
v. Am. Univ,. 546 F. 2d 1029, 1034 (D.C. Cir. 1976) (“Where there has been only one ingury, th
law confers only one recovery, irrespective of the multiplicity ofipawvthom or theories which
the plaintiff pursues.”) In this case, Defendant Iran is liadIBlaintiffs under Section 1605A(c)
and that subsection explicitly provides for the type of damdgesPaintiffsseek in relation to
these claims—economic damagepain and sufferingsolatium,and punitive damages- and
thus,the Court will proceed only based the section 1605A(c) claims.

Prior to discussing thélaintiffs' claims, the Courtwill determinewhetherYonadav’s
estate— i.e., Michael Engelberg, in his capacity as administrator of the Esfa¥owadav

Hirshfeld —has standing toecover for harms suffereafter Yonadav was shot and prior to his

death.

18 The Amended Complaint also includes a claim for lossasortium damages, but a loss of
consortium often requires that the party complaining of the loss have been married to the
victim-spouse at the time the cause of action accrued, and decedent Yonadav Hishfeld w
unmarried Nor did Plaintiffs profferany evidence related to a loss of consortium claim.
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1. Standing of the Estate

The determination as to whether an estaty maintain a cause of action for injuries
suffered during a decedent’s life is governed by the law of the state Whegstate is established.
Taylor v Islamic Republic of Irgri811 F.Supp. 2d 1, 1:23(D.D.C. 2011).State law governs this
issue beause it is not related to the nature and extent of the claims, but ratheplves a
threshold inquiry regarding the “power of the &sta bring and maintain legal alas.” 1d. at 12.
The Estate of Yonadav Hirshfetthe Estate”) was admitted fwobate in New York StateSee
Mot. for Default Judg., ECF N@&O, Ex. 4 (Letters of Limited Administration appointing Michael
Engelberg as Fiduciary, issued by Surrogate’s Court, County of Nel, WorFeb. 5, 2016).
Under New Yorkstatelaw, an estateis entitled to assert claims for “survival damages” that
considerdecedent’s pain and suffering prior to deaffnderson v Islamic Republic of Irai53
F. Supp. 2d 68, 833 (D.D.C. 2010)in re Estate of Maier682 N.Y.S. 2d 831, 833, 178 Misc. 2d
1061 1064 (N.Y. Sur. 1998) (“An action for personal injuries belerg the victim of those
injuries and survives the victim's death as an asset of the estateeahler by its personal
representative. . . .”) Furthermore, e personal representative oflecedent may maintain an
action to recover for damages ferongful death.Barry & Sons, Inc. v. Instinct Productions, LLC
15 AD. 3d 62,66,788 N.Y.S. 2d 71 (LDept. 2005)see alsdN.Y.E.P.T.L.§ 54.1 (McKinney
2003). Unlike damages for pain and sufferingm#aes for wrongful death do not accrue to the
estate but go directly to distributees of the deceabieslin v. Country of Green&96 N.Y.S.2d
723, 727-728923 N.E.2d 1111, 1115116 (2010)When a deceased dies intestate and leaves
neither spouse nor children, the parents are his “distrémiteN.Y.E.P.T.L. § 4.1.1(a)(4)

(McKinney 2003).
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2. Wrongful Death

Plaintiffs seek recovergf economic losses accruing to tBetate of Yonadav Hirshfeld
based on a claim of wrongful deatlA decedent’s heirs at lavacting through the decedent’s
estate, may bring arongful deathaction under section 1605A(¢p seek ompensaon “for
economic losses which result from decedent’s premature ded#idre 700 F. Supp. 2d at 78
(quotingFlatow, 999 F. Supp. at 27.Plaintiffs may recover for wrongful death upon establishing
that Iran caused Yonadav Hirshfeld’s deaBeeRestatement (Second) of Torts 8§ 92 noted
above, under Bw York law,any damages for wrongful death accrueto@nestate, but directly
to its “statutory distributees” of the deceasdd.re Jackson’s Estai&35 N.Y.S. 2d 587, 89 71
Misc. 133, 134 (NY Sur. Court, Kings County 197&)ing Matter of Maynarg 37 Misc. 2d 184,
234 N.Y.S. 2d 282 In this case, Yordav Hirshfeld’sparents are his “statutory distribees”
because helied intestate and fikneither spouse nor childreAs previouslydiscussedn this
Memorandum Opinion Plaintiffs have submitted satisfactory evidence demonstratiag t
Yonadav Hirshfeld’s death was an extrajudicial killing effectuated byd$awhich was receiving
material support from Defendant Iran. Accordingly, Iranablé fortheeconomic lossessulting
from Yonadav’'spremature death, and any damages awarded for wrongful death are recoverable
by Yonadav Hirshfeld’s parentglisheva and Zemach Hirshfeld

3. Survival

A survival action accrues upon the death of an injured person and “lirod@sery for
damages for loss or impairment of earning capacity, emotiorta¢sisand all other harms, to
harms suffered before death.” Restatement (Second) of Torts §'92astate of Yonadav

Hirshfeld seeks damages for Yonadgvain andsuffering betveen the moment of the shootjng
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which injured himand hisultimatedeath. Courts have awarded damages for “the victim’s pain
and suffering that occurred between the attack and the victim's death shertgfter.” Haims

v. Islamic Republic of Irg25 F. Supp. 2d 56, 71 (D.D.C. 2006). An award of pain and suffering
is inappropriate “[ijn the absence of evidence tending to show an attadledesuthe fatal but
noninstantaneous injury of a victim and that the victim was constimusafter[.]” Warley v.
Islamic Republic of Iran177 F. Supp. 3d 283, 286 (D.D.C. 201&e Roth78 F. Supp. 3d at 402

(If the plaintiff cannot prove that the decedent consciously expeddime between an attack
and subsequent death, a court must refuse to awam@bdarfor pain and suffering).

In this case, there was testimony3fyimon BalzanandZvi Yehuda Kofmarnhat Yonadav
Hirshfeldwas conscious after he was shot but before he wigdh is further demonstrated by the
fact thatYonadawvas able to run awdyom the shooter and into the stairwell of a nearby building,
where he was later found deaBalzam Depo. 12; Kimnan Depo. 14.7. Mr. Kofman noted that
while they were running from the shooter, Yonadav’s blood “sprayed omta<diman’s] arm”
and Yonada didn’'t say anything but he thought Yonadav shouted. Kofman DeptMrlBalzam
testified that Yonadamnayhave survived for up to 20 minutes after he was shot, as that is the time
it took the emergency services to arri&alzam Dep. 1345; Kofman D@o. 17. Mr. Balzam was
shot during the March 6, 2008 incident, and he testified that he thoughsigeing to die from
his injuries and he was “very scared.” Balzam Depel4.3He agreed that it was reasonable that
Yonadav would have had similar thghis afterbeingshot. Balzam Depo. 15These statements
madeunder oattlby two classmates who were with Yonadav at the time dktinerist incident at
the Mercaz Harav Yeshiva illustrate that the shooting which ultimdlyo Yonadav’'s demise

did na kill him instantaneously. The testimodgmonstratefurtherthat Yonadawexperienced
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pain and sufferindrom the attack at the Mercaz Harav Yeshiva prior to his death, and his Estate
is thus able telaim survival damages.

4. Intentional Infliction of Emotional DistresgSolatium

Plaintiffs seek to recover solatium damagestheir claims against Defendant Irfom
intentional infliction of emotional distress (“lIED"Which is a cause of action recognized as
giving rise to liability under the FSIA. See Reed45 F. Supp. 2dt 212 (“An act that would
otherwise constitute IIED gives rise to liability under the FSIA.Blaintiffs have alternately
asserted claims for IIED and solatium in their Fourth Cause obatithe Amended Complaint.
Solatium is “the mental anguish, bereavement and gifet those with a close personal
relationship to a decedent experience as the result of the decedent’s death, ashedibas
caused by the loss of the decedent['s] society and comfBetlkin v. Islamt Republic of Iran
667 F. Supp. 2d 8, 22 (D.D.C. 2009) (citasormitted). Spouses and relatives in direct lineal
relationships are presumed to suffer damages for mental anguidr ias “[a]cts of terrorism are
by their very definition extreme and toageous and intended tousa the highest degree of
emotional distress.1d. (citing Stethem v. Islamic Republic of Ir&®1 F. Supp. 2d 78, §®.D.C.
2002); see Wamai v. Republic of Sud&® F. Supp. 3d 84, 94 (D.D.C. 2014) (Recovery for
solatium isgenerally limited to “immediate family membess parents, siblings, spouses, and
children[.]”) “Solatium claims are typically brought by famitlyembers who were not present or
injured themselves.Cohen 238 F. Supp. 3dt 84.

Under 1605A (c) “a solatium claim is indistinguishable from an [i#&m.” Valore 700

F. Supp. 2d at 85 (citation omittedee also Surette v. Islamic Republic of [raB1 F. Supp. 2d

" The Court addresses PlainitiffiIED and solatium claims as one claiee Kassmaisupra.
(permitting only one recovery for a single injury).
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260, 26n.8 (D.D.C. 2002) (“[iln an intentional homicide case saslja terrorist killing], solatium
appears in any event to be indistinguishable from the intentiofiation of emotional distress
for which the District of Columbia does generally allow recovery ttdinternal quotation
marks anitted). Courts ca therefore look to cases analyzing either type of claim for gegdan
the other.Valore 700 F. Supp. 2d at 85 he standard for an IIED claim ia Section 1605A(c)
case draws heavily upon principles set forth in the Restate(Bewsbnd)of Torts wheeby
defendants are liable for IIEOF they “by extreme and outrageous conduntentionally or
recklessly causesevere emotional distress” to the plaintiffRestatement (Second) of Torts §
46(1). The Restatement permits recovergt only by persons whare the recipiestof the
“extreme and outrageous condiidiut also by: (1) membedd the victim’s immediate famil{2)
who were present at the time of the extreme and outrageous cohMiuphy v Islamic Republic
of Iran, 740 F. Supp. 2d 51, 75 (D.D.2010) (citing Restatement (Second) of Torts § 46(2)(a)).
In FSIA cass, the “immediate family” prong is construed stricttp generally permit
recovery only by spouses, parents, siblings and childdenln contrast, thgrong requiring
presence has been waived because adsroirismare sufficiently extreme and outrageous to
demonstrate thahey areintended to inflict severe emotional harm on even those persons who are
not present during the ac6eeValore, 700 F. Supp. 2d at 8the family members “need not be
present at the time of a terrorist attack upon a third person to réocogeveral emotional injuries
suffered as a result;"see alsdRestatement (Second) of Torts 8§ 46, cmt. 1 (Am. Law Inst. 1977)

(leaving “open the padbility of situations in which presence at the time may not beinestji. 8

18 The appellate court in this circuit recently coesatl statdaw claims for IIED brought
against Sudan and Iran by foreign family members of victintheotnited States embassy
bombings in Tanzania and Kenya, where the issue of waivirigptheencérequirement was
challenged by defendant Suda@wensv. Republic oSudan 864 F. 3d 751, 806812 (D.C. Cir.
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The plaintiffs herein, who are the parents and siblings of Yonadawfelid, have stated
undisputedcclaims for IIED/solatium as supported by their sworn testimoagardingthe shock
and anguish they sufferestemming fromcircumstances surrounding Yonadad&ath. When
considering claims of solatium/IIED by Yonadav’s parents, tleigrdnay presume that those in
direct lineal relationships with victims of incidents of terrorisuffer compensable mental
anguish. See Flatow v. Islamic Republid Iran, 999 E Supp. 1, 30 (D.D.C. 1998) (discussing
solatium damages under a prior version of the statutory-spatesored terrorism exception to
foreign sovereign immunity)Regardingclaims by Yonadav'ssiblings, the Court notes that
testimony providing 4close emotional relationsHipvill usually be sufficient tesustan an award
of solatium damagedd.

The evidence in this case establishes that Iran provided materiattsapgpaesources to
Hamas with theinderstanding anidtent that Hamas would carry out attacks in Isnablere such
attacks would cause a high degree of emotional distéess.e.g. More, 700 F. Supp. 2d at 77
(“Acts of terrorism are by their very definition extreme and outragaadsntended to cause the
highest degree of emotional distreygdquotingBelkin v. Islamic Republic dfan, 667 F. Supp.
2d 8, 22 (D.D.C. 2009)Bee v. Islamic Republic of Iran574 F. Supp. 2d, 12 (D.D.C. 2008)

(“Defendants’ conduct, in providing material support. . . [to] Hamo conduct suide bombings,

2017),petition for cert. filed864 F.3d 751 (Mar. 6, 2018) (No.-1406). The Circuit Court
noted that this matter 6&bandoning the presence requirement in FSIA terrorism’ces®eains
undecidd and further, that in the case of state law claims, D.C. law controls {he ctthe
IIED claim, but the D.C. Court of Appedibas yet to render a decision on the mattét. at
811-812. Accordingly, the following question was certified to the [CQurt of Appeals:

Must a claimant alleging emotional distress arising from a tetrattack that killed or injured a
family member have been present at the scene of the attack in ordeg eodsain for
intentional infliction of emotional distress?

Id. at 812.
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is extreme, outrageous and goes beyond all possible bounds of deceffiByetause of the
appalling and extreme nature of terrorist attacks, courts in this distne generally held that a
defendant is liable to the victim’s family even if they were riotscally present during the attack
as long as there is some evidence that they suffered mental angutsauama as a result of’it
Cohen 238 E Supp. 3dat 85 (citations omitted)Roth v Islamic Republic of Irai8 F. Supp. 3d
at 400 (same)yalore 700 F. Supp. 2d at 80 (saméxcordingly, Iran is liable to Yonadav
Hirshfeld’'s familymemberon claimsfor intentional infliction of emotional distrefselatium

Plaintiffs have thus established Iran’s liability to the Rif#isyunder the federal private
right of action against state sponsors of terrorism, 28 U.Se€Ction 1605A(c)on claims for
wrongful death, survivaland intentional infliction of emotional distrésslatium The damages
allowalde to the plaintiffs are discussed in the section that follows.
V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW ON DAMAGES

The Plaintiffs in the instantase seek to recover economic, pain and suffering, solatium,
and punitive damages to compensate for their losses and to punisdd»fean for its support
of Hamas, a terrorist organization. To recover under the FSIA, a “defauiemmust prove
damags ‘in the same manner and to the same extent as any other default widHrev."Republic
of Irag, 328 F. 3d 68068384 (D.C. Cir. 2003) (citation omitted). In the context of a defau
judgment, courts in this circuit distinguish between “the stahdiproof necessary to establish a
plaintiff's entittemento damages and to assessdh®untof those damages.Rhodes v United
States967 F. Supp. 2d 246, 313 (D.D.C. 2013) (emphasis in original). In terotsicd lamages,
“successful plaintiffsmay recover damages by proving ‘that the projected consequences are
reasonably certain (i.e., more likely than not) to occur, and prase the amount of damages by

a reasonable estimateFtaenkel v. Islamic Republic of IraB892 F.3d 348, 353 (D.C. Cir. 2018)
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(citing Hill, 328 F.3d at 684). For past losses, plaintiffs must “prove theofaimjury with
reasonable certaintyyvhile the amount of damagesay bebased on a “reasonable estimate.”
Samaritan Inns, Inc. v. District of Columbihl4 F.3d 1227, 1235 (D.C. Cir. 1997)

As previously noted, damages under Section 1605A(c) incledendmic damages,
solatium, pain and suffering, apdnitive damages.Theheirsof a deeased plaintiffnayrecover
economic losses stemming frotime wrongful death of the decedent, whilemediate family
members mayecover solatiundamagedor their emotional injury, and all plaintiffs can recover
punitive damagesValore 700 F. Supp. 2d at 83. The decedent’s estaigecover damages for
pain andsuffering if it can be proved that the decedent experienced pain andnguffieor tohis
death. Elahi v Islamic Republic dfan, 124 F. Supp. 2d 97, 112 (D.D.C. 2000n fashioning
damage awardsgourts may look to expert testimony and prior awards for compairgbtg” to
determine the appropriate amount of compensatory dam&gasnyv. Islamic Republic of Iran
228 F. Supp. 364,82 (D.D.C. 2017).

A. Economic Damages

Section 1605A(c) authorizes courts to award economic damages faaroisigssuffered
because o terrorism victim’'s deathSee Belkin667 F. Supp. 2dt 24 (considering calculations
that relied on reasonable and wlelinded assumptions about the likely earnings of the decedent)
As a general rule, loss of accretion damages are calculated by estimagngderd’'s fture
earning potentiabased on the individual's work and education and adjusting that artemunt
account for inflation, rise in productivityob advancement, and personal consumpt&tethenv
IslamicRepublic of Iran201 F. Supp. 2@8, 87(D.D.C. 2002) The report of an economist may
“provide a reasonable bdsfer determining the amount of economic damages due under Section

1605A(c). Reed 845 F. Supp. 2dt 214. Lost earnings are not difficuid quantify but they must
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be supported by competent evidence, or they will be deredun, 228 F. Supp. 3dt 83, see
alsoKaplan v. Hebollah 213 F. Supp. 3d 27, 42 (D.D.C. 2010) (declining to award economic
damages because the plaintiffs “faitedneet the minimum evidentiary threshold supporting their
respective claims for economic damages.”)

In the instant case?laintiffs introduced the deposition testimony of Mark Berenblut, a
forensic and investigative accountant ededat the London School of Economics, dadalified
in Canada and [ ] in the U.S. fmving] an investigative accountaspecialty’ SeeTranscript of
April 10, 2018 Deposition of Mark Berenblut (“BerenblDepo’), at 5. Mr. Berenblut has
previouslytestified as an expert withess on economic damages in personabinyugngful death
casesand he testified as an expert in ten matters during the last four y@asee als@erenblut
Depo.,Ex. B [list of matters].Mr. Berenblut's publications @hpresentations are listed in his
curriculum vitae, which is attached to his report (Bererb&go. Ex. A). He previously authored

a text calledProving Economic Lossvhich was a “looséeaf service updated every year of twice

a year, although he [hast] done it now for a number of yeaesid that text dealt with “calculation
of losses in personal injury, fatality, medical malpractice typcases.”Berenblut Depo6.

Mr. Berenblut used two different models to calculate lost earning®balf ofYonadav
Hirshfeld. In the first model, Mr. Berblut assumed that Yonadav would have had a career in
Israel, and in the second model, he assumed that Yonadav woulddtbaecareer in the United
States, because he hddal citizenshipt® BerenblutDepo.8. Mr. Berenblus calculation of
Yonadav's lost earnings may bemmarized as follows:

[T]he total losses, depending on the level of achievement teatetermines for Yonadav,
in the U.S. would be the present value of those losses after taxes, aftenape

19 As noted by Yonadas brother Nehemiyd Yonadav was the only one who spoke English
well.” When they visited their grandmother who only spoke English, Nefaewanted Yonadav
“to come with us so he could speak bettétehemiya Depol4.

a7



consumption, of between 2.2 million U.S. dollars and 3.2 million do8ars, as shown in

Table 1. And the alternative is, had he made a career in Israel, that theseMoa&l be

between approximately 950,000 U.S. dollars and 1.3 million Wirs.
BerenblutDepa 9.

In making these assessments, Mr. Berenblut considered the follow@nadav's
birthdate and date of death; his dual citizenship; his academic parfoenm high schodltop
marks in all of his topics at the highest leyglind the size ofonadav’'sfamily and academic
and career achievements of the family members. Bereblgjpo. 1112. He then looked at
averages for male earners with-dléis years of school, in Israel and the United States, including
not only earning$g¥ut also benefits. Berenbltepo. 1314. Inhis Israel model, Mr. Berenblut
also looked at “male managers with-Aleis years of schooling as the alternative.” Berenblut
Depo.13. In his United States model, Mr. Berenbilobked at thethird quartile,which is an
upper quartile” to get another range which he tholrglasonable to measure [Yonadav’'s] earning
capacity.” BerenbluDepo. 1314. He next factored in taxes and personal consumption, and he
applied a present value factor and considered gowemtsponsored pension plans. Berenblut
Depo.at 1415. Mr. Berenblut opined thatonadav could have achieved higher earnings than in
his report, and he characterized his numbers as a “conservative range oksstirBatrenblut
Depo.15-16.

WhenYonadav Hirshfeld was killed, he was anyéhar old student studying at the
MercazHarav Yeshiva. Yonadav's father testified that Yonadav was studifiegTalmud in a
very intense way” at th®lercaz Haraweshiva. Z. Hirshfeld Tr. 47.In response t@a question
about what Yonadav was planning on doing after he completed his steiieach saidhat “It
was]the first year of yeshiva studies, so it's too young to know whatchéd have done with it

later.” Id. See alsddaya Dep. 17 (B]ased on hisalents and capabilities, he would have grown
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up to be a Torah leader, a rabbi, someone who would have taught manythesy’); Yedidya
Depo. 12 (Yonadav had a superior knowledge of the Mishnah and a retfdalkmemorizing it,

to the extent that g]ven older students in the yeshiva . . .. would come to him to ask hira whe
certain things were written and whhey meant, to explain them. . . .”Yhe testimony presented
by Yonadav'gparents andiblingsis consistent in demonstrating thébnadav was a student who
excelledin his studies irhigh school anavasserious about his studies, particularly t@ggious
studies.

Thesuggeste@conomic award amounts differ based uponvegorfactors: (1) whether
Yonadav would have pursued his car@erthe United States or Israel; and (2) whether his
prospective career would have been comparable to all male earnerseavganie amount of
education, or to male earners at the managerialVattethe same amount of education. Because
Yonadav was only eighteen years old and in his first year at the Mercaz ¥eshiva when he
died, it is more difficultto gauge what career pdtke would haveeventuallytaken To aid ina
determination of appropriate economic damages, this Court consideecthehiat are evident
from the record: (1) Yonadav was serious about his religiousestuid showed a particular
aptitude and interest in these studigsHirshfeld Tr. 1213, Z. Hirshfeld Tr. 442, S. Hirshfeld
Tr. 59, Yedidya Depo. t14); (2) most, if notall, of Yonadav’'sbrothersstudied at a yeshiva and
some, including his father, are involved in professions thatvevaround the Jewish religi¢a.
Hirshfeld Tr. 39, S. Hirshfeld Tr. 490, Yedidya Depo.-@, David Depo. 6, 8, Nehemiya Depo.
6-7); ard (3) all Yonadav’ssibling and his parenis/e in Israe) and there is no indication in the
record before this Court that Yonadav had ever been to the United @tates any desire to go

to the United States.
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Given these facts, the Court concludeattthe damage estimate based on Yonadav
pursuing a career in Israel and comparffapadav’searning to all male earnefahich would
encompass male earners pursuing professions such as a rabbi or a ietehene that ibetter
supported by the evidee in this case, and therefore, the Estate of Yonadav Hirshfeldestwalle
an economic loss damage awar&950,000.00.

B. Pain and Suffering

Claims “for the conscious pain and suffering” inflicted on victinfsterrorism are
“actionable through theestates.”Gates v. Syrian Arab Republ®80 F. Supp. 2d 53, 72 (D.D.C.
2008). Courts “will not simply award what [is] abstractly [fdlito be fair,” Weinstein 184 F.
Supp. 2d 13, 23 (D.D.C. 2002), even while “[p]utting a number on these kindsnag ban be
difficult.” Price v. Socialist People’s Libyan Ardamabhiriyg 384 F. Supp. 2d 120, 134 (D.D.C.
2005). Courts look to “damage awards for pain and suffering in otees ¢cmought under the
FSIA” with the effect that “precedence guides [ ] calculationt&d” “In awarding pain and
suffering damages, the Court must take pains to ensure that indswedtrasimilar injuries receive
similar awards.”Harrison v. Republic of SudaB82 F. Supp. 2d 23, 48 (D.D.C. 2012) (quoting
Valore 700 F. Supp2d at 84).

Proceeding on this basis, a review of relevant precedents reveals theamopa@f whether
a fatal injury was instantaneous. If a fatal injury was not itst@ous, a court must refuse to
award damages for pain and suffering if the plaintiff is unablertve that the decedent
consciously experienced the time between an attack and his destidite ofBotvinv. Islamic
Republic of Iran 873 F. Supp. 2d 232, 244 (D.D.C. 2012). If the plaintiff does prove the
decedent’s conscious state, courts have awarded damages of one mikicfdioperiods of pain

and suffering lasting anywhere from less than a minute to a fewg hffer an attack but prior to
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death. Braun 228 F. Supp. 3d 64, 83 (D.D.C. 2013¢g e.g. Stethem v Islamic Repubfitran,
201 F. Supp. 2d at 89 (awarding $1,000,000 for the several minutes after themastshot and
before he died)Eisenfeld v. Islamic Republic of Irah72 F. Supp. 2d 1, *5, *8 (D.D.C. 2000)
(awarding compensatory damages of $1,000,000 eac¢befeeral minutes” of pain and suffering
by two decedents who died at the scene of a bomldilghj v. Islamic Republic dfan, 124 F.
Supp. 2d 97, 113 (D.D.C. 2000) (awarding $1,000,000 férn3inutes of pain and suffering);
Flatow, 999 F. Supp. at 289 (awarding $1,000,000 for 3 to 5 hours of pain and suffering).
Shimon Balzam and Zvi Yehuda Kofmeestified that Yonadav Hirshfeld was alive for at
least several minutes after being shot, as demonstrated by the fa@irihdayv ran from thplace
where he was shot into a building that was located approximateéld® bdeters away and he was
able to make it another 4 meters into the stairwell landing befordlheB#zam Depo. 1112;
Kofman Depo. 1314, 1618. While the three students weumming away from the shooter, Mr.
Kofman heard Yonadav scream in pain or fear, and he felt Yonadavd Bfivaying onto his
shirt. Kofman Depo. 13,17, 23. Neither Mr. Balzam nor Mr. Kofmaucceay exactly when
Yonadav died but at the time emergencywses arrived, approximately 20 minutes after the
incident, Yonadav was deceased. Balzam Defl5129; Kofman Depo. 1%7. In this case, it
is clear from the evidence that Yonadav was conscious, fearful afedirsyffor at least a few
minutes after he was shot because he was able to run away from thex sindointo a building
and then make it to the stairwell, where he was later found deceased.diAglyorYonadav
Hirshfeld’s Estate is entitled to $1,000,000.00 in survival damages forddeisapan and

suffering after the attack and prior to his death.
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C. Solatium

In this Circuit, the “seminal opinion explaining the origins and ipaldrs of solatium
damages” in claims under the FSIAHgtow v Islamic Republic of Iran999 F. Supp. 1 (D.D.C.
1998). Fraenke] 892 F. 3d at 356. As explained therein, “[s]olatium is traditionally a
compensatory damage which belongs to the individual heir persdoallyjury to the feelings
and loss of decedent’s comfort and society [which] began as a remetg fos$ of a spouse or
a parent [but] has since expanded to include the loss of a chiatéw, 999 F. Supp. at 2%-or
solatium clains based on the loss of a siblinthe claimant must “prove a close emotional
relationship with the decedent.” Id. at 30. Solatium encompasses the “mental anguish,
bereavement and grief resulting from the fact of the decedent’s death,@aasb damages for
mental anguish are fadependent, these claims require ehgease analysis.Flatow, 999 F.
Supp. at 30. When a terrorist act results in death, that emotional distress, iwithttendant
horrific surrounding circumstances, prevents the anguish [fedt i@yative of the deceased] from
subsiding.” Id. at 31. Solatium damages atbkerefore available as compensation for the “mental
anguish, bereavement and grief that those with a close person@nslgd to a decedent
experience as a result of the decedent’s death, as well as the harm caused byahééoss
decedentsociety andomfort.” Baker v. Socialist People’s Libyan Arab Jamahjry@s F. Supp.
2d 48, 83 (D.D.C. 2011) (internal quotation marks and citation omitt8d)atium damages are
availableeven though those plaintiffs were not “present at the place of eowagonduct.”
Heiser v. Islamic Republic of Ira®59 F. Supp. 2d 2@7(D.D.C. 2009)X“Heiser IT").

In situations where the victim was Killed opposed to being injurefdctors considered
by courts include: “(1) whether the decedent’s death was sudden expkated; (2) whether the

death was attributable to negligence or malice; (3) whether the claitmargssought medical
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treatment for depression and related disorders resulting from the désedeanh; (4) the nature
(i.e., the closeness) of the relationship between the claimant anectédedt; and (5) the duration
of the claimarg mental anguish in excess of that which would have been experitticedng
the decedent’s natural death.Stethem201 F. Supp. 2dt 89-90. Courts puemphasison the
cause of death in terrorism cases, when considering that “the fact of dedkie @ause of death
can become inextricably intertwined, thus interfering with tlesgects for anguish to diminish
over time.” Elahi, 124 F. Supp. 2d at 111.

Even with these guideposts, claims for solatium, unlike thosedbomliages, are difficult
to quantify, and not readily susceptible to “models and variabldd.” (citations omited).
Accordingly, courts are often guided by remedial approaches andl&srapplied in similar cases,
and in cases where solatium damages are sought, most courts employ #dgesdanodel
articulated inEstate ofHeiserv. IslamicRepublic of Iran 466 F. Supp. 2d 229 (D.D.C. 2006)
(“Heiser I). In that case, the Honorable Royce C. Lamberth developed a standardizeatappro
for evaluating IIED claims for solatium damages, after surveyasg awards to family members
of victims of terrorism.Roth v Islamic Republiof Iran, 78 F. Supp. 3dt403. Pursuant to the
Heiserdamagesnodel,”[s]pousegypically receive greater damages awards than parents, who, in
turn, typically receive greater awards than siblingsiéiser | 466 F. Supp. 2d at 269The
damages framework set outHieiser lanticipated awards between $8 million and $12 million for
pain and suffering resulting from the death of a spouse, $5 nfbiqgrarents of deceased victims,
and $2.5 million for siblingsld.

The Heiser “damagesmodel’” was explained succinctly Braunv. Islamic Republic of
Iran, as follows:

In determining the appropriate amount to compensate for victims'lyfamembers’
emotional distress, “the Court may look to prior decisions awgrdamages . . . for
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solatium.” Acosta 574 F. Supp. 2d a9 Solatium damages, by their nature, are

“unquantifiable,”Moradi, 77 F. Supp. 3d at 72, and therefore, this Court has developed a

commonly accepted standardized framework, kmaw theHeiser damagegramework,

for solatium damagesEstate of Heiser466 F. Supp. 2d at 269¢e Roth78 F. Supp. 3d

at 403 (noting the “framework has been adopted by other courts as aprapnmeasure

of solatium damages for the family members/ietims of statesponsored terrofciting

Valore, 700 F. Supp. 2d at 85)). As a baseline, the framework awards “approximately $5

million to a parent whose child was killed” in a terrorist attaBlstate of Heiser466 F.

Supp. 2d at 269.

Braun 228 F. Supp. 3d at 85.

The numbers sebrth under theHeiser | damages framework are “not set in stone.”
Murphy, 740 F. Supp. 2d at 7%s “strict application of precedent could lead to conflicting
conclusions about an appropriate awar8réwer v. Islamic Republic of IraB64 F. Supp. 2d 43,
57 (D.D.C. 2009) (quotation omittedCourts have discretion to deviate from thieiser
framework andmay enhance the award depending on factors suchnagspecially close
relationship between the plaintiff and the decedent, the circaoestasurrounding the terrorist
attackwhich made it particularly amizing, and medical proof od claimant’'sseverepain, grief
or suffering. Oveissi v. Islamic Republic of Irar68 F. Supp. 2d 16, 2&/ (D.D.C. 2011)
Downward departures may be justified where the evidence suggests aatatlerelationship
between the victim and his family membekalore v Islamic Republic of Iran700 F. Supp. 2d
52, 86 (D.D.C. 2010)seeRelvas v Islamic Republic of IranCase No. 1:14v-01752, 2018
Westhw 1092445 *5 (D.D.C. Feb. 28, 2018) (adjusting the damages for one plaimtifivdod
based on “the paucity of evidence describing the relationship betweercléimant and
decedent]”) see also Roth v Islamic Republic of Iy&® F. Supp. 3dt406(derying an award of
solatium damages “where no evidence [was] offered to show injury that & afvsolatium

damages might compensateWhile “many FSIA decisions issued by the District Court follow

Heiser'ssolatium damages model,” the District Court ['m®t requiredto follow Heiserfor the
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simple reason thafleiseris not controlling precedent.Fraenke| 893 F. 3d at 3G1seeLabow v
U.S. Dep't. of JusticeB31 F.3d 523, 532 (D.C. Cir. 2016) (noting that district court opinions do
not establish bindg precedenbn other courfs
This Court has spent a considerable amount of time examining the Maheeadationship
between Yonadav Hirshfeld and his parents and 12 siblingjsding:
» ThewayYonadavs parents reacted to the news of the incident at the Mercaz Harav
Yeshiva and how they had to wait for hours before they were inforiméxhadavs
death (E. Hirshfeld Tr. 2@8, Z. Hirshfeld Tr. 4243);
= The circumstances surroundi@@machs identification of Yonadav'sbody (Z.
Hirshfeld Tr. 44);
= The support Yonadas parents sought through participation in a survivarpport

group for a period of two years (E. Hirshfeld Tr-23);
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= Theannualmemorial services held for Yonadav, which invgbaticipation by his
parents and siblings (E. Hirshfeld Tr. 23;28 30, 33Haya Depo. 14);

= Some of the special bonds between Yonadav and his siblings such as laoa
his two brothers shared a room (S. Hirshfeld Tr. 5458)/ sharedctivities (David
Depo. 1415, Nehemiya Depo. 14), studied together (Yedidya Depdl110
Hana Decl. Paragraph 4ndworkedtogether (Hana Decf] 4, S. Hirshfeld Tr.
58);

e The physical and emotional effects of Yonadadeath on his siblings (Zimrat
Depo. 16, E. Hehfeld Tr. 30, 32, David Depo. 12, Amiel Deff4-5, S. Hirshfeld
Tr. 54, 5758);

e The help sought by Yonadawsiblings to cope with his death (Nehemiya Depe. 16
17, David Depo. 134;

e The ways in which Yonadav is missathid rememberedt family evers and
celebrations Haya Depo. 134, Yedidya Depo. 145, Hana Declf 10, David
Depo. 16, Nehemiya Depo. 16);

e The difficulty some of the siblings have in discussing Yongdadidya Depo. 14
15, Nehemiya Depo. 1¥8);

e The other ways in which Yonadav is remembered, including Aviyantaher son
for him (Aviya Decl. Paragraph 10) and Hay&usband establishing a nprofit

religiousorganization in honor of Yonadav (Haya Depo..17)

The Court concludes that Elisheva's Hirshfeld's statements that ddéenéloved
everybody” and “loved to play with [his siblings], he loved to talkhem, he loved to have fun”

and “everybody [in the family] felt close” aptly describe Yonadav asthlge and loving family
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Accordingly, ths Court sees no reason to deviate from the guidance set forthHeider case
and shall award Elisheva and Zemach Hirshfeld $5,000,000.00 each inmsadatinages, and
each of Yonadav’'s 12 siblings shall be awarded $2,500,000.00 in solatium damages

D. Punitive Damages

Under the FSIA, a state sponsor of terrorism may be hel@ lfablpunitive damages. 28
U.S.C. Section 1605A(c). Punitive damages are designed to “punish [tmelat@]efor [its]
outrageous conduct and to deter [it] andeagHike [it] from [engaging in] similar conduct in the
future.” Restatement (Second) of Torts 8§ @)8see Bodoff v. Islamic Republic of Ita®07 F.
Supp. 2d 93, 105 (D.D.C. 20123¢cod Owessi v. Islamic Republic of Irarf879 F. Supp. 2d 44,
5556 (D.D.C. 2012). “Punitive damages are warranted where ‘defendants suppootected,
harbored, aided, abetted, enabled, sponsored, conspired with, andzedlasikihown terrorist
organization whose modus operandi included the targeting, kattah ad murder of American
citizens and others.”Braun 228 F. Supp. 3d at 86 (citiigpker, 775 F. Supp. 2dt 85). In the
instant case, punitive damages are warranted to punish Iran for itsatrgipport of Hamas, a
terrorist group.

To calculate punitive damages, courts in similar casesdmnsdered(1) the character
of the defendantsct, (2) the nature and extent of harm to the plaintiffs that the detsnda
caused or intended to cause, (3) the need for deterrence, andwéptteof the defendants.
Wulta v. Islamic Republic of Irar864 F. Supp. 284, 41(D.D.C. 2012) (quotingAcosta 574 F.
Supp. 2d at 30)Regarding the first factoas previously detailed by this Court, Defendant Iran
provided financial and materiatpport for Hamas, with the end goal of Hamas carrying out
terrorist attacks in IsraelDefendaris callousacionsof providing material support for Hamas

terrorist activitiesleserve condemnationThe second factgrointsfurtherto punitive damages
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insofar as ¥nadav Hirshfeld, m18year old studentvas suddenly and unexpectedly shot and
killed by a Hamas shooter targetidgwishunarmed students at their schawhich left

Yonadavs parents and siblings emotionally distraught. T factor— theneed for
deterrence— is bolstered by the expert testimony in this case which indicha¢drans support
of Hamas is ongoing. This deterretiaetor is affected by the existence of prior avgarf
punitive damages for the same incidetdpon a sarch of FSIA cases, it does not appear that
there are any prior punitive damage awards arising fronspleisificincident, and thus, the
punitive damages awarded in this case need not be adjusted doviewthed reason While
there is‘[ n]o principlé prohibiting a plaintiff from recovering punitive damadgssmply
because punitive damages have previously been awarded against the sadentief . for the
same conduct,courts doconsiderthe effects of cumulative punitive awardékeinsteirv.

Islamc Republic of Iran184 F. Supp. 2dt 25-26 (nternal citations omitted).Regardinghe
wealth of Defendant Iran, which is the fouf#ictor to be considerethe expert testimony in this
case affirms that Iran was willing and able to commggending hundreds of millions of dollars

in support of HamasLevitt Tr. 110111.

Courts have used several different approaches to the calculation of/gudatinages
against foreign sovereign defendants who support terro®ea.Gill v. Island Republic of Iran
249 F. Supp. 3d 88, 105 (D.D.C. 2017) (Punitive damages may be calculated by mgreerati
multiplicand and multiplier, with the multiplicand being eithiee defendant’s annual expenditures
on terrorist activities— used for exceptionally deadly attacksor the amount of compensatory
damages already awarded, which is used in cases without excepti@umhstances. The
multiplier used by judges in this Court ranges from three to five).

One approach is to multiply the foreign stat&anual expenditures on terrorism” by a
factor between three and fivehis approach, which may result in awards in the billions of
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dollars, has been used in the case of exceptionally deadly attacks, sich@83tbombing

of the Marine barracks in Beit, which killed 241 American military servicemen. Another

approach awards a fixed amount of $150,000 per affected family.
Braun v. Islamic Republic of Irar228 F. Supp. 64, 87 (2017) (internal citations omit{eding
the $150 millionapproachda punitive damag@sWyattv. Syrian Arab Republi®08 F. Supp. 2d
216, 233(D.D.C. 2012)(awarding $80 million in punitive damages to two victims and their
families);Baker, 775 F. Supp. 2d at 86 (awarding $150 million each to families of three victims)
Gates 580 F. Supp. 2d at 75 (awarding $150 million each to the estates of timmsyict

Defendant Iran’s conduct in providing material support to theristrgroup Hamas that
perpetrated the attack at the Mercaz Harav Yeshiva, whereby young statdalgwishreligious
educational institution were targeted amght of them were killeds outrageous. The conduct is
however more similar to conduct in cases involving awards of $150@mill punitive damages
than in cases where a multiplier of [Iran’s] expenditures on temasisised, and accordingly, this
Court will award $150,000,000.00 in punitive damagefie family of Yonadav Hirshfeldgainst
Defendant Iran
VI. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court AAR'S default judgnent againsDefendant the
Islamic Republic ofran (“Iran’) and awardslamagedotaling $191,950,000.0@ the Plaintiffs
herein More specifically, the Estate of Yonadav Hirshfeld shall barded $1,000,000.00
damagedor Yonadav Hirshfelts pain andsuffering Yonadav Hirshfelds parents, Elishevand
Zemach Hirshfeldshall be awarded $5,000,000.00 each in solatium danzagk$950,000.00
jointly in economic damages. Yonadauwwelve siblings— Shalom HirshfeldZimrat Bracha
Zuckerman, Haya Hamital Novik, Yedidya Hirshfeld, Hana Shand®dyid Yinon Hirshfeld,

Aviya Freedman, Bhemiya Hirshfeld, Amiel Hirshfeld, Eashiv Schmuel Hirshfeldind minors
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EH and SH (through their mothe#y shall each be awarded $2,500,000.00 in solatium damages.
Punitive damages against Iran are awarded in the anod$150,000,000.00 to the family of

Yonadav HirshfeldAn appropriate Order accompanies this Memorandum Opinion.

/sl
COLLEEN KOLLAR-KOTELLY
United States District Judge
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